Unit II:  But It’s Mine

Involuntary Transfers of Property 

Chapter 3:  Adverse Possession
Note: Overview of Adverse Possession & Nature of the Doctrine

Adverse Possession is a doctrine that allows people who use an otherwise unused parcel of land for a sufficient amount of time to become the legal owners of the land regardless of the strength of their claim to the land at the time they took possession of it.  The doctrine obviously is a severe limitation of the owner’s right to exclude third parties; it means that if the right to exclude is not asserted quickly enough, the owner can lose ownership of the land entirely.  Despite its extreme appearance, Adverse Possession has been a part of Anglo-American Property Law for centuries.  As you review the materials in this section, consider the possible rationales for Adverse Possession and whether you think they justify the doctrine in whole or in part.

All American jurisdictions limit the amount of time a person has to bring civil lawsuits for personal injuries, breaches of contract and interference with property rights.  These limits are contained in statutes known as “statutes of limitations.”  Thus, if you are injured in an automobile accident and wish to obtain damages from the other party, you must bring suit within the time specified by the relevant statute of limitations (often two years for tort suits).  



If a person moves onto land you own without your permission and refuses to leave, you would bring an action for “ejectment,” and, if successful, you would obtain a court order ordering the trespasser off your land.  Every state has a statute of limitations for ejectment actions that limits the amount of time you have to bring the lawsuit to clear your land.  In practice, these statutes of limitations only are invoked if the non-owner in possession of your land meets a set of rigorous requirements that have developed mainly through caselaw.  The resulting interaction of the statute of limitations and the court-created requirements constitutes the doctrine of “Adverse Possession.”  If the non-owner (“adverse possessor”) successfully meets the requirements of the doctrine, he or she will become the legal owner of the land in question.



Adverse Possession claims usually arise in one of two different legal contexts.  First, the legal owner of the property might bring an ejectment action to evict the adverse possessor, who then raises the doctrine as a defense to the action (“You do not have the right to eject me because I have adversely possessed the land and am the true owner.”).  Second, people who believe they have met the requirements for adverse possession can bring a lawsuit known as a “Quiet Title” action, in which the court is asked to declare who the legal owner of the land is, thus “quieting” any dispute as to ownership.



The requirements for Adverse Possession vary greatly from state to state. The period of time listed in the various statutes of limitations ranges (at least) from five to thirty years.  In addition, each state has a slightly different list of requirements that a successful adverse possessor must meet.  Moreover, each state has its own cases (and sometimes statutes) interpreting the list of requirements.  This area of law is made even more confusing to grasp because some states use different terms to refer to the same requirement and some states use the same language to refer to different requirements.  An outline describing the typical set of requirements is laid out below.  The names given to the elements are those used most commonly (although not in every jurisdiction). However, even states that use different terminology incorporate into their rules each of the kinds of evidence described as the focus of the elements named below. 
Note:  Color of Title

A.
Document purporting to give title but giving none


1. Usually defective deed or will


2.  Generally holder has to have good faith belief in validity of document

B.
A Few States (e.g., New Mexico): Required for All Adverse Possession Claims

C.  MOST STATES: 


1.
NOT a required element of adverse possession


2.
Can reduce burden of proof  for claiming adverse possession in a variety of ways:



a. Shorter statute of limitations



b. Less burdensome requirements




(i) Fl. Statute: easier to show "actual use"




(ii) Others: presumption of "hostile"

c. Allows “constructive” adverse possession of whole parcel described in document from use of a part.




(i) Without color of title, can only adversely possess what you actually use

(ii) If, e.g., you have an invalid deed giving you all of a 20-acre lot, but you only really use 10 acres, the court can find constructive adverse possession of the rest.
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FLORIDA STATUTES:  LIMITATIONS OF ACTIONS;  
ADVERSE POSSESSION

95.12. Real property actions.  No action to recover real property or its possession shall be maintained unless the person seeking recovery or the person's ancestor, predecessor, or grantor was seized or possessed of the property within 7 years before the commencement of the action.

95.13. Real property actions;  possession by legal owner presumed.  In every action to recover real property or its possession, the person establishing legal title to the property shall be presumed to have been possessed of it within the time prescribed by law.  The occupation of the property by any other person shall be in subordination to the legal title unless the property was possessed adversely to the legal title for 7 years before the commencement of the action.

95.16. Real property actions;  adverse possession under color of title.

(1) When the occupant, or those under whom the occupant claims, entered into possession of real property under a claim of title exclusive of any other right, founding the claim on a written instrument as being a conveyance of the property, or on a decree or judgment, and has for 7 years been in continued possession of the property included in the instrument, decree, or judgment, the property is held adversely.  If the property is divided into lots, the possession of one lot shall not be deemed a possession of any other lot of the same tract.  Adverse possession commencing after December 31, 1945, shall not be deemed adverse possession under color of title until the instrument upon which the claim of title is founded is recorded in the office of the clerk of the circuit court of the county where the property is located.

(2) For the purpose of this section, property is deemed possessed in any of the following cases:

(a) When it has been usually cultivated or improved.

(b) When it has been protected by a substantial enclosure.  All land protected by the enclosure must be included within the description of the property in the written instrument, judgment, or decree.  If only a portion of the land protected by the enclosure is included within the description of the property in the written instrument, judgment, or decree, only that portion is deemed possessed.

(c) When, although not enclosed, it has been used for the supply of fuel or fencing timber for husbandry or for the ordinary use of the occupant.

(d) When a known lot or single farm has been partly improved, the part that has not been cleared or enclosed according to the usual custom of the county is to be considered as occupied for the same length of time as the part improved or cultivated.

95.18. Real property actions;  adverse possession without color of title.

(1) When the occupant or those under whom the occupant claims have been in actual continued occupation of real property for 7 years under a claim of title exclusive of any other right, but not founded on a written instrument, judgment, or decree, the property actually occupied shall be held adversely if the person claiming adverse possession made a return of the property by proper legal description to the property appraiser of the county where it is located within 1 year after entering into possession and has subsequently paid all taxes and matured installments of special improvement liens levied against the property by the state, county, and municipality.

(2) For the purpose of this section, property shall be deemed to be possessed in the following cases only:

(a) When it has been protected by substantial enclosure.

(b) When it has been usually cultivated or improved.
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Pennsylvania Statutes of Limitations

42 Penn. Cons. Stat. §5530 

§5530.  Twenty-one year limitation.  

(A) GENERAL RULE.-- The following actions and proceedings must be commenced within 21 years:

   (1) An action for the possession of real property.  …

(B) ENTRY UPON LAND.-- No entry upon real property shall toll the running of the period of limitation specified in subsection (a)(1), unless a possessory action shall be commenced therefor within one year after entry. Such an entry and commencement of a possessory action, without recovery therein, shall not toll the running of such period of limitation in respect of another possessory action, unless such other possessory action is commenced within one year after the termination of the first.
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VAN VALKENBURGH v. LUTZ
106 N.E.2d 28 (N.Y. 1952)

Prologuea: Shortly after their marriage in 1912, Mary and William Lutz bought at auction two wooded lots in Yonkers, a suburb of New York, taking title in the husband’s name. The lots, numbered 14 and 15, were situated high on a hill above Leroy Avenue, at the time an unimproved “paper” street. To the west was a wooded triangular tract – consisting of lots 19, 20, 21, and 22 – the ownership of which is at issue in this case. … Instead of climbing the steep grade from Leroy Avenue to reach lots 14 and 15, the Lutzes found it easier to cross the triangular tract which they did not own; Lutz cleared a “traveled way” near the northern boundary of the tract to reach Gibson Place on the west.

With the help of his brother Charlie and his wife Mary, William Lutz cleared lots 14 and 15 and built a house for his family on them. The Lutzes also partially cleared the triangular tract and built for Charlie a one-room structure on lot 19. By 1920 the buildings were occupied. In 1921 Mary’s fifth and last child was born to her in the main house.

In 1928, the city graded Leroy Avenue and broke the private water line leading to the main Lutz house. Lutz, who was working in New York City at the time, went home to repair it. As a result, he lost his job; thereafter Lutz stayed home tending a garden on the triangular property, selling vegetables, and doing odd jobs for neighbors. The Lutz children grew up, and all except the youngest son, Eugene,  moved away.

In 1937, Joseph and Marion Van Valkenburgh bought lots west of Gibson Place and built a new home there. Some nine years later, in 1946, bad blood developed between the Lutzes and the Van Valkenburghs. In April of that year, Mary Lutz was annoyed by the presence of the Van Valkenburgh children in her garden, and she called her husband over. The Van Valkenburgh children ran home, Lutz behind them brandishing an iron pipe and crying, “I’ll kill you.”  Van Valkenburgh then appeared and began a heated argument with Lutz. He subsequently swore out a complaint of criminal assault, and Lutz was arrested, jailed, then released on bail.

A year later, in April 1947, the Van Valkenburghs bought lots 19,20, 21, and 22 from the City of Yonkers at a foreclosure sale for nonpayment of taxes; no personal notice of the proceedings was given the Lutzes. The purchase price was $379.50. On the following July 6, Van Valkenburgh, accompanied by two policemen, visited the triangular tract and, in his words, “took possession” of it. He called to Mrs. Lutz to come out of her house and told her that the Lutzes were to clear from the property all buildings that belonged to them. On July 8 the Van Valkenburghs’ attorney sent Lutz a registered letter informing him that the triangular tract was now owned by the Van Valkenburghs and that he should remove any of his property from the land. A few days later Lutz went to see the attorney and told him he wanted proof of the Van Valkenburghs’ ownership and time to harvest his vegetable crop. Then, on July 13, Lutz failed to appear for the trial on the charge of criminal assault, for which he had been arrested a year earlier. A bench warrant was issued, and Lutz was again arrested, jailed, and released on bail. Subsequently he was convicted of criminal assault.

In the meantime Van Valkenburgh had the property surveyed. In response to another letter from the Van Valkenburghs’ attorney, Lutz returned to the attorney’s office on July 21, this time accompanied by his own lawyer. At this meeting Lutz agreed to remove his sheds, junk, and garden within thirty days, but he claimed a prescriptive rightb to use the traveled way to reach his property. Lutz then removed the chicken coops and junk. Shortly thereafter the Van Valkenburghs invited legal action by erecting a fence across the traveled way that Lutz claimed a right to use. Lutz joined battle by bringing an action against the Van Valkenburghs to enjoin them from interfering with his right of way. In the suit Lutz alleged that Marion Van Valkenburghs was the owner of the property, but that Lutz had a right of way over it. In January 1948 the trial court handed down a judgment in Lutz’s favor, awarding him a right of way over the traveled way; this judgment was affirmed in June 1948.

The action in this case was commenced against the Lutzes on April 8, 1948. Perhaps realizing the blunder made in the prior lawsuit (the admission that Marion Van Valkenburgh owned lots 19--22), Lutz fired his Yonkers lawyer and hired one from Wall street. Not to be outdone, the Van Valkenburghs also sought out and employed a Wall Street firm. In August 1948, William Lutz died, devising all his property to his wife Mary. The Van Valkenburghs’ suit was tried in June 1950. The testimony in the case totaled some 250 pages, and in addition there were 56 exhibits consisting of deeds, surveys, and photographs. Several neighbors who had lived in the area a long time testified for the Lutzes. Not one testified for the Van Valkenburghs, who lost in the trial court and appealed.

DYE, Judge:
… To acquire title to real property by adverse possession not founded upon a written instrument, it must be shown by clear and convincing proof that for at least fifteen years (formerly twenty years) there was an 'actual' occupation under a claim of title, for it is only the premises so actually occupied 'and no others' that are deemed to have been held adversely.  Civil Practice Act, §§34, 38, 39.  The essential elements of proof being either that the premises (1) are protected by a substantial inclosure, or are (2) usually cultivated or improved.  Civil Practice Act, §40.c
 
Concededly, there is no proof here that the subject premises were “protected by a substantial inclosure” which leaves for consideration only whether there is evidence showing that the premises were cultivated or improved sufficiently to satisfy the statute.

 
We think not.  The proof concededly fails to show that the cultivation incident to the garden utilized the whole of the premises claimed.  Such lack may not be supplied by inference on the showing that the cultivation of a smaller area, whose boundaries are neither defined nor its location fixed with certainty, “must have been … substantial” as several neighbors were “supplied … with vegetables”.  This introduces an element of speculation and surmise which may not be considered since the statute clearly limits the premises adversely held to those “actually” occupied “and no others,” Civil Practice Act  §39, which we have recently interpreted as requiring definition by clear and positive proof.  


Furthermore, on this record, the proof fails to show that the premises were improved.  According to the proof the small shed or shack (about 5 by 10 1/2 feet) …  was located on the subject premises about 14 feet from the Lutz boundary line. This was built in about the year 1923 and, as Lutz himself testified, he knew at the time it was not on his land and, his wife … also testified to the same effect.

 
The statute requires as an essential element of proof, recognized as fundamental on the concept of adversity since ancient times, that the occupation of premises be “'under a claim of title,” Civil Practice Act §39, in other words, hostile, and when lacking will not operate to bar the legal title, no matter how long the occupation may have continued.  

 
Similarly, the garage encroachment, extending a few inches over the boundary line, fails to supply proof of occupation by improvement.  Lutz himself testified that when he built the garage he had no survey and thought he was getting it on his own property, which certainly falls short of establishing that he did it under a claim of title hostile to the true owner.  The other acts committed by Lutz over the years, such as placing a portable chicken coop on the premises which he moved about, the cutting of brush and some of the trees, and the littering of the property with odds and ends of salvaged building materials, cast‑off items of house furnishings and parts of automobiles which the defendants and their witnesses described as “personal belongings”, “junk”, “rubbish” and “debris”, were acts which under no stretch of the imagination could be deemed an occupation by improvement within the meaning of the statute, and which, of course, are of no avail in establishing adverse possession.

 
We are also persuaded that the defendant's subsequent words and conduct confirms the view that his occupation was not “under a claim of title.”  When the defendant had the opportunity to declare his hostility and assert his rights against the true owner, he voluntarily chose to concede that the plaintiffs’ legal title conferred actual ownership entitling them to the possession of these and other premises in order to provide a basis for establishing defendant's right to an easement by adverse possession the use of a well‑defined 'traveled way' that crossed the said premises.  In that action, William Lutz … chose to litigate the issue of title and possession and, having succeeded in establishing his claim of easement by adverse possession, he may not now disavow the effect of his favorable judgment, or prevent its use as evidence to show his prior intent.  Declarations against interest made by a prescriptive tenant are always available on the issue of his intent. 6 Wigmore on Evidence, §1778. …

 
The judgments should be reversed … and judgment directed to be entered in favor of plaintiff Joseph D. Van Valkenburgh …. 

FULD, Judge (dissenting): 
In my Judgment, the weight of evidence lies with the determination made by the court at Special Term and affirmed by the Appellate Division.  But whether that is so or not, there can be no doubt whatsoever that the record contains some evidence that the premises here involved were occupied by William Lutz, defendant's late husband, for fifteen years under a claim of title and that, of course, should compel an affirmance.

 
… 
Wild and overgrown when the Lutzes first moved into the neighborhood [in 1912] , the property was cleared by defendant's husband and had been, by 1916, the referee found, developed into a truck farm “of substantial size”.  Lutz, together with his children, worked the farm continuously until his death in 1948; indeed, after 1928, he had no other employment.  Each year, a new crop was planted and the harvest of vegetables was sold to neighbors.  Lutz also raised chickens on the premises, and constructed coops or sheds for them. Fruit trees were planted, and timber was cut from that portion of the property not used for the farm.  On one of the lots, Lutz in 1920 built a one‑room dwelling, in which his brother Charles has lived ever since.

 
Although disputing the referee's finding that the dimensions of Lutz's farm were substantial, the court's opinion fails to remark the plentiful evidence in support thereof.  For instance, there is credible testimony in the record that “nearly all” of the property comprised by the four lots was cultivated during the period to which the referee's finding relates.  A survey introduced in evidence indicates the very considerable extent to which the property was cultivated in 1950, and many witnesses testified that the farm was no larger at that time than it had ever been.  There is evidence, moreover, that the cultivated area extended from the “traveled way” on one side of the property to a row of logs and brush placed by Lutz for the express purpose of marking the farm's boundary at the opposite and of the premises.

 
According to defendant's testimony, she and her husband, knowing that they did not have record title to the premises, intended from the first nevertheless to occupy the property as their own.  Bearing this out is the fact that Lutz put down the row of logs and brush, which was over 100 feet in length, to mark the southwestern boundary of his farm; this marker, only roughly approximating the lot lines, extended beyond them into the bed of Gibson Place.  The property was, moreover, known in the neighborhood as “Mr. Lutz's gardens”, and the one‑room dwelling on it as “Charlie's house”; the evidence clearly indicates that people living in the vicinity believed the property to be owned by Lutz.  And it is undisputed that for upwards of thirty‑five years until 1947, when plaintiffs became the record owners no other person ever asserted title to the parcel.

 
With evidence such as that in the record, I am at a loss to understand how this court can say that support is lacking for the finding that the premises had been occupied by Lutz under a claim of title.  The referee was fully justified in concluding that the character of Lutz's possession was akin to that of a true owner and indicated, more dramatically and effectively than could words, an intent to claim the property as his own. … That Lutz knew that he did not have the record title to the property a circumstance relied upon by the court is of no consequence, so long as he intended, notwithstanding that fact, to acquire and use the property as his own.  As we stated in Ramapo Mfg. Co. v. Mapes, 110 N.E. 772, 775, “the bona fides of the claim of the occupant is not essential, and it will not excuse the negligence of the owner in forbearing to bring his action until after the time in the statute of limitations shall have run against him to show that the defendant knew all along that he was in the wrong.”

 
Quite obviously, the fact that Lutz alleged in the 1947 easement action twelve years after title had, according to the referee, vested in him through adverse possession that one of the plaintiffs was the owner of three of the lots, simply constituted evidence pointing the other way, to be weighed with the other proof by the courts below.  While it is true that a disclaimer of title by the occupant of property, made before the statutory period has run, indelibly stamps his possession as nonadverse and prevents title from vesting in him, a disclaimer made after the statute has run carries with it totally different legal consequences.  Once title has vested by virtue of adverse possession, it is elementary that it may be divested, not by an oral disclaimer, but only by a transfer complying with the formalities prescribed by law. Hence, an oral acknowledgment of title in another, made after the statutory period is alleged to have run, “'is only evidence tending to show the character of the previous possession.”  Smith v. Vermont Marble Co., 99 Vt. 384, 394.  Here, Official Referee Close, of the opinion that the 1947 admission was made by Lutz under the erroneous advice of his attorney, chose to rest his decision rather on evidence of Lutz's numerous and continual acts of dominion over the property proof of a most persuasive character.  Even if we were to feel that the referee was mistaken in so weighing the evidence, we would be powerless, to change the determination, where, as we have seen, there is some evidence in the record to support his conclusion.

 
In view of the extensive cultivation of the parcel in suit, there is no substance to the argument that the requirements of sections 39 and 40 of the Civil Practice Act were not met.  Under those provisions, only the premises “actually occupied” in the manner prescribed that is, “protected by a substantial inclosure” or “usually cultivated or improved” are deemed to have been held adversely.  The object of the statute, we have recognized, “is that the real owner may, by unequivocal acts of the usurper, have notice of the hostile claim, and be thereby called upon to assert his legal title.” Monnot v. Murphy, 100 N.E. 742, 743. Since the character of the acts sufficient to afford such notice “depends upon the nature and situation of the property and the uses to which it can be applied”, it is settled that the provisions of sections 39 and 40 are to be construed, not in a narrow or technical sense, but with reference to the nature, character, condition, and location of the property under consideration.  

 
Judge Dye considers it significant that the proof “fails to show that the cultivation incident to the garden utilized the whole of the premises claimed.” There surely is no requirement in either statute or decision that proof of adverse possession depends upon cultivation of “the whole” plot or of every foot of the property in question.  And, indeed, the statute which, as noted, reads “usually cultivated or improved” has been construed to mean only that the claimant’s occupation must “consist of acts such as are usual in the ordinary cultivation and improvement of similar lands by thrifty owners.” Ramapo Mfg. Co., supra, 110 N.E. at 776.  The evidence demonstrates that by far the greater part of the four lots was regularly and continuously used for farming, and, that being so, the fact that a portion of the property was not cleared should not affect the claimant's ability to acquire title by adverse possession: any frugal person, owning and occupying lands similar to those here involved, would have permitted, as Lutz did, some of the trees to stand while clearing the bulk of the property in order to provide a source of lumber and other tree products for his usual needs.  The portion of the property held subservient to the part actively cultivated is as much “occupied” as the portion actually tilled.  The nature of the cultivation engaged in by Lutz was more than adequate, as his neighbors' testimony establishes, to give the owner notice of an adverse claim and to delimit the property to which the claim related….  

 
In short, there is ample evidence to sustain the finding that William Lutz actually occupied the property in suit for over fifteen years under a claim of title.  Since, then, title vested in Lutz by 1935, the judgment must be affirmed. … 

Epilogue: Litigation between the Van Valkenburghs and the Lutzes did not end with the principal case. William Lutz’s brother Charlie was mentally incompetent; after the principal case, Eugene was appointed as his guardian. Charlie had not been a party to the prior proceedings, so he was in position to contest them. Through his guardian he brought an action against the Van Valkenburghs to enjoin removal of  “his” house from lot 19. Charlie claimed that he and his brother William had constructed the house over 20 years earlier and that when this house was being constructed he believed he was building it on William’s land. He further claimed that, since 1917, he had been in possession of the house as the tenant of William, the owner, and that he paid rent to William for the house. This lawsuit wound its way up and down the courts until 1968, when the Court of Appeals unanimously ruled for the Van Valkenburghs on the ground that Charlie’s occupation was not under a claim of title. By this time Charlie was well into his eighties.

Eugene Lutz and his wife lived in the Lutz house [at least through 1998]. The traveled way, bounded by a tall chain link fence, and the house [were] guarded by two ferocious dogs, whose menacing bark [warned] strangers away. The Van Valkenburghs are dead. The triangular tract – the subject of this bitter dispute between neighbors – was  owned by a churc [as of 1998]. 
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ITT RAYONIER, INC. v. BELL

112 Wash.2d 754,  774 P.2d 6 (1989)

PEARSON, Justice.  
ITT Rayonier, Inc. (ITT), plaintiff, instituted this action to quiet title to property situated in Clallam County.  In addition, ITT prayed for damages for trespass and for the ejectment of defendant Arthur Bell.  Bell answered, alleging ITT was not entitled to judgment in its favor by reason of Bell’s adverse possession of the property for a period greater than the statutory period of 10 years.  Additionally, Bell counter‑claimed against ITT praying for judgment quieting title in Bell.  … [T]he trial court entered partial summary judgment, quieting title in favor of ITT.  The Court of Appeals affirmed.  

FACTS:   In 1972, Arthur Bell purchased a houseboat moored near the mouth of the Big River in Swan Bay on Lake Ozette.  The property that is the subject of this action is directly adjacent to that moorage and was purchased by ITT in 1947.  ITT, as owner of record, has paid the property taxes on the land in question continuously since its purchase.  Bell admits that he never purchased any of the property involved in this action.  Additionally, he concedes that he has never maintained any “No Trespassing” signs on the property, nor has he ever denoted any boundary with a fence or any other markers.  A very rough approximation of the amount of land in question is one‑half of an acre.  Bell testified that he regularly occupies his houseboat in the spring, summer, and fall, and visits only occasionally during the winter months.

 
Bell testified that at the time he purchased the houseboat, he believed the adjacent land was owned by the State.  When asked whether it was his understanding that other people could use the property, his response was, “[a]ctually when I‑‑no, not really.  When I was there they‑‑I didn’t think somebody was going to come up and go camping right there.  But I suppose if they tried to, I wouldn’t have said anything to them.”

 
According to further deposition testimony of Bell, at the time he purchased the houseboat it had been moored in the same location since approximately 1962.  The houseboat was moored to the land initially via a cable, and subsequently via a rope tied to two trees.  The record reveals that only the following structures have been situated on the property in question for the full statutory period:  a woodshed that existed prior to Bell’s purchase of the houseboat, a woodshed he began building in 1978, an abandoned sauna that has existed since 1973, and the remains of an outhouse built by Bell in 1972 that has occupied numerous sites on the property.

 
Other than 6 weeks in the summer of 1973, when the houseboat was moored in Boot Bay, approximately 2 miles from the disputed property, the houseboat has at all times been situated adjacent to the property both Bell and ITT presently claim.

 
Bell’s deposition testimony further reveals that he was away from the property during the 1974‑75, 1975‑76, and 1976‑77 school years, while he was teaching school in Nanana, Alaska.  During the first and third winters, he allowed friends to use the houseboat occasionally.  During the 1975‑76 school term, he rented the houseboat for $30 per month.  Bell returned to Lake Ozette each of the three summers, personally occupying his houseboat during those months.

 
Bell’s houseboat is not the only one in the area.  Two families, the Klocks and the Olesens, have co‑owned a houseboat for approximately 20 years that floats adjacent to both Bell’s houseboat and the disputed property.  Mr. Klock, in a sworn affidavit, stated:

When using the houseboat, I and my family have used the adjacent land for the purpose of digging a hole for an outhouse and for other minimal uses.  I do not own the land next to my houseboat but have used it permissively over the last twenty years.  Arthur Bell has never attempted to exclude us from using the property nor has he attempted to claim the property as his own.

In addition, Mr. Olesen swore to an identical statement.

 

Gerald Schaefer, an employee of ITT, stated in his sworn affidavit that ITT owns 383,000 acres in eight counties in Washington State.  Often ITT is absent from its land for long periods of time:

In its normal management of its land, Rayonier often will not visit or use its lands for long periods of time.  After property has been logged and planted, it is common for Rayonier not to visit the property for 15 years, at which point precommercial thinning occurs.  After precommercial thinning, property is often left 30 to 35 years before timber becomes commercial.  It is virtually impossible to patrol all of Rayonier’s lands that are not undergoing logging operations.

ANALYSIS:   The doctrine of adverse possession arose at law, toward the aim of serving specific public policy concerns,

that title to land should not long be in doubt, that society will benefit from someone’s making use of land the owner leaves idle, and that third persons who come to regard the occupant as owner may be protected.

Stoebuck, Adverse Possession in Washington, 35 Wash.L.Rev. 53 (1960).



In order to establish a claim of adverse possession, there must be possession that is:  (1) open and notorious, (2) actual and uninterrupted, (3) exclusive, and (4) hostile.  Chaplin v. Sanders, 676 P.2d 431 (Wash. 1984).  Possession of the property with each of the necessary concurrent elements must exist for the statutorily prescribed period of 10 years.  RCW 4.16.020.  As the presumption of possession is in the holder of legal title, the party claiming to have adversely possessed the property has the burden of establishing the existence of each element.  

Exclusive Possession:  We are asked whether summary judgment against the defendant was proper based on the defendant’s failure to establish his exclusive possession of the disputed property for the statutory period.  Where the facts in an adverse possession case are not in dispute, whether the facts constitute adverse possession is for the court to determine as a matter of law.  

 

Relying upon the deposition testimony of Bell and the affidavits of Klock and Olesen, the trial court held Bell had failed to establish that his possession of the property was exclusive.  The Court of Appeals affirmed, holding Bell’s shared use of the property with the Klocks and Olesens was not possession in the nature one would expect from an owner, and thus the exclusivity requirement had not been met:

While possession of property by a party seeking to establish ownership of it by adverse possession need not be absolutely exclusive, “the possession must be of a type that would be expected of an owner ...”  Bell’s possession of the subject property is not of the type one would expect of an owner.  The intrusion onto the land by Klock and Olesen cannot be said to be merely casual.  The evidence shows that they moored their houseboat near the same property for a longer period than did Bell.  During this period, they used the property in question along with Bell.  Bell’s acquiescence in their use of the land cannot be described to be simply the attitude of a good neighbor.  It shows, rather, that there was a shared occupation of land.  This does not constitute the exclusive use of land necessary for adverse possession and, in our judgment, reasonable persons could not conclude otherwise.



… Nevertheless, by pointing to specific instances of his own use of the property, Bell attempts to establish his exclusive possession.  Unfortunately, such an approach logically fails to negate instances of use by others.  As this court has held, specific instances of property usage merely provide evidence of possession:

Evidence of use is admissible because it is ordinarily an indication of possession.  It is possession that is the ultimate fact to be ascertained. Exclusive dominion over land is the essence of possession, and it can exist in unused land if others have been excluded therefrom.  A fence is the usual means relied upon to exclude strangers and establish the dominion and control characteristic of ownership.

Wood v. Nelson, 358 P.2d 312 (Wash. 1961).



Possession itself is established only if it is of such a character as a true owner would make considering the nature and location of the land in question. As quoted in Wood v. Nelson, supra, use alone does not necessarily constitute possession.  The ultimate test is the exercise of dominion over the land in a manner consistent with actions a true owner would take.  Thus, Bell’s burden was to establish specific acts of use rising to the level of exclusive, legal possession. Unfortunately, while Bell recited certain improvements he had made in the property, he failed to state definitively the length of their existence.  Thus, the record reflects that only a woodshed, a partially built and then abandoned sauna, and an outhouse have existed on the property for the full 10 year statutory period.  As the Court of Appeals correctly held, Bell’s shared and occasional use of the property simply did not rise to the level of exclusive possession indicative of a true owner for the full statutory period. Accordingly, we affirm the Court of Appeals.

Good Faith:  Having affirmed the trial court’s partial summary judgment against Bell, the Court of Appeals nevertheless provided an alternative ground for its decision:

[A]nother element of adverse possession is that the party seeking to acquire title to land by adverse possession must possess the land under a good faith claim of right.  Bell concedes that at no time, prior to the time he claims his possession of the property ripened into title, did he believe that he had title to this property or any claim of right to it....  Holding in this case, as a matter of law, that Bell did not raise a genuine issue of fact on the question of his good faith claim of right to the property is, in our judgment, consistent with Chaplin.

This portion of the Court of Appeals decision is in error.

 

In Chaplin v. Sanders, 676 P.2d 431, this court unanimously held that the adverse possessor’s “subjective belief whether the land possessed is or is not his own and his intent to dispossess or not dispossess another are irrelevant to a finding of hostility.”  In so doing, this court expressly overruled cases dating back to 1896.

 

The Court of Appeals reasoned that the Chaplin decision did not specifically do away with the good faith element of adverse possession, and stated, “the question of whether or not one acts in good faith is a question that can only be answered by making a judgment about the actor’s subjective belief.”  In a footnote, the court noted, “to conclude otherwise ... we would be encouraging ... ‘squatting.’ “  



As stated, the doctrine of adverse possession was formulated at law to protect both those who knowingly appropriated the land of others, and those who honestly held the property in the belief that it was their own.  3 Am.Jur.2d Adverse Possession §142 (1986).  Twenty‑four years before Chaplin, Professor Stoebuck suggested this court should return to the original formulation of the adverse possession doctrine:

Perhaps the reader will agree that the law would have been clearer and in the long run more useful to the people if Washington had never gone into the “subjective intent” business at all....  [T]he common law of England seems to have ... had no such element to adverse possession.  Adverse possession revolves around the character of possession, and it is difficult to see why a man’s secret thoughts should have anything to do with it.  Maybe the idea originated in a confusion of permission or agreement between owner and possessor with unilateral intent in the possessor’s mind.  Whatever the reason, the court could yet perform a service by doing away with any requirement of subjective intent, negative or affirmative.  Since a man cannot by thoughts alone put himself in adverse possession, why should he be able to think himself out of it?

Stoebuck, Adverse Possession in Washington, 35 Wash.L.Rev. 53, 80  (1960).



Today, we reaffirm our commitment to the rule enunciated in Chaplin v. Sanders, supra:

The “hostility/claim of right” element of adverse possession requires only that the claimant treat the land as his own as against the world throughout the statutory period.  The nature of his possession will be determined solely on the basis of the manner in which he treats the property.  His subjective belief regarding his true interest in the land and his intent to dispossess or not dispossess another is irrelevant to this determination.  Under this analysis, permission to occupy the land, given by the true title owner to the claimant or his predecessors in interest, will still operate to negate the element of hostility.  The traditional presumptions still apply to the extent that they are not inconsistent with this ruling.  

Accordingly, good faith no longer constitutes an element of adverse possession.  Thus, we affirm the Court of Appeals on the basis of Bell’s failure to establish exclusive possession, and reverse the Court of Appeals alternative holding that Bell failed to establish a good faith claim to the property.
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DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

52.   What do you think are the purposes behind statutes of limitations generally?  Do those purposes apply with equal force to actions for possession of land as they do to actions for personal injury or breach of contract?  Are there other purposes that adverse possession might serve beside those that support statutes of limitations in other contexts?
53.  Why do states have stricter requirements for adverse possession without color of title?
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The Elements of Adverse Possession 

1.  “Actual Use”

(Nature of the Adverse Possessor’s Activities on the Claimed Land)

A.
Physical possession or entry required


1.  Enough to create a cause of action for trespass


2.  Generally must be substantial & leave physical evidence


3.  FL: need actual entry:  “overt physical acts of possession"

B.
Jurisdictions employ different tests


1.  E.g., “use the way an average owner would use”


2.  E.g., “use ordinary or appropriate for the type of property claimed” 


3.  PA: “depends on the facts of each case and to a large extent on the character of 


the premises”


4.
Some states require cultivation, enclosure, residence or improvements 

(a) CA: Fence or other enclosure must be “substantial and … kept in good 
repair.”

(b) “Improvements” here means constructing something or making large structural repairs, not merely making the lot look better.


5.  Note Washington combines with “uninterrupted.” See Bell supra.
C.  Examples of Insufficient Use from Witkin, Summary of California Law (9th ed.).

1.  Klein v. Caswell (Cal. App. 1948):  “Many weekend/holiday visits for picnics 



and occasional camping not enough for a site where the ordinary use would 



have been to build a cabin.”  

2.  Madson v. Cohn  (Cal.  App. 1932): “Visiting an unfenced city lot ‘four to six 



times a year and during one year had planted a few bushes and trees and 



cleaned out weeds.’” 
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DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

54.  Given the purposes of adverse possession, what is the function of the “actual” element?  What evidence of “actual use” is noted in the two opinions in Lutz?  Why did the majority find this evidence insufficient?  Why did the dissent disagree?
55. If you read the New York and Florida adverse possession statutes literally, it appears that you could not adversely possess land if you lived in a pre-existing building for the adverse possession period, but did not improve, cultivate, or enclose the land.  Does this result make sense?  How did the court in Ray address this issue?

56.  What kind of evidence might there have been of “actual use” in East 13th Street? In Bell?
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2.  “Open and Notorious”
(Notice to the Owner of Adverse Possessor’s Activities)

A.
Requires activity sufficient to make owner aware of adverse possessor’s use of contested lot.

1.  Note that this doesn’t mean owner must actually be aware

2.  Common legal distinction:  “Notice” v. “Knowledge”


(a) “Notice”:  Acts such that someone should be aware


(b) “Knowledge”: Person is in fact aware

B.
Tests

1.  Common test:  “Is use by the possessor visible to a person on the surface 
of the possessed land”

2.  FL/PA: conduct sufficient to put a “reasonable person” (PA) or a person “of ordinary prudence” (FL) on notice that his or her land is being held by the claimant as his own

C.
Meeting the tests


1.  Very few kinds of actual use fail these tests



(a) Major Exception:  Marengo Cave described in Note 4 (P119-20)


(b) Only under cover of dark: maybe not 

(c) 1 case: activities on wild, overgrown, little used patch, not visible from highway meets test.  Even casual inspection of property line would reveal encroachment.

2.  Some states also will find this requirement met based on other forms of notice to the community.  For example



(a) Possessor’s reputation as owner



(b) Public records that show possessor owns
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DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

57.  Given the purposes of adverse possession, what is the function of the “open and notorious” element?   What evidence was there of this element in Lutz? In Ray? In Bell?
58. Why did the use of the caves in Marengo (See Note 4 P119-20) not satisfy this element?  What are the pros and cons of this result?

59.  Why did the claimants in East 13th Street arguably not satisfy the “open & notorious” element?
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3.  “Exclusive”
(Lack of Activity by the Owner or the Public on the Claimed Land)

A.
In most states, use by the owner during the period the possessor is trying to meet the statutory requirements means the possessor has to start counting the statute of limitations period again.


1.  Unclear how significant the owner's "use" must be.

2.  One N.Y. case: owner's use of a narrow strip on the property to store construction materials for 3 weeks defeated the possessor's claim.
3.  Miller v. Doheny (Cal. App. 1921): “The original owner owned two adjoining lots, one of which was being adversely possessed.  The house on the adjoining lot had eaves that stuck out over the lot that was being claimed through adverse possession.  The court held that ‘the adverse possessor did not get title to the strip over which the eaves projected; the true owner was never out of possession of that part.’” Witkin, Summary of California Law (9th ed.).
B.
In some states, use of the land by the public in way that suggests a general public right (e.g., as a public beach) defeats individual adverse possession claims

1.  However exclusivity need not be any more absolute than would be expected of an ordinary owner

2.  E.g., PA: occasional unobserved trespasses by members of public did not mean possession was not exclusive.  

C. “Exclusive” does not mean that only one person can adversely possess.  Two or more people can adversely possess together, and receive some form of joint ownership at the end
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DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

60.  Given the purposes of adverse possession, what is the function of the “exclusive” element?  What evidence was there of this element in Lutz? In Ray? 
61.  Why did the claimants in Bell  and East 13th Street not satisfy the “exclusive” element?

62.  What does §5530(B) of the Pennsylvania statute (S38) do?  What is its purpose?  How does it fit in with the purposes of the “exclusive” element? 
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4.  “Continuous” (Duration of the Adverse Possessor’s Activities)

A.
Must meet all elements without a significant interruption for the statutory limitations period

1.  Interruption can be either



(a) Lapse by possessor OR



(b) Act by owner that amounts to resumption of possession (see “exclusive”)


2.  What interruptions are significant?



(a) If lapse by possessor, depends on normal use of property



(b) PA: temporary break OK if “not of unreasonable duration”



(c) If interruption by owner, in FL length irrelevant

3.
Note Washington combines with “actual.”  See Bell supra. 
B.
“Tacking”:  adding activities of successive possessors or successive owners to make up whole statutory period


1.  Can “tack” possessors if “privity” (legal connection)



(a) Intestate succession



(b) Grant through a will



(c) Gift or sale


2.  Can “tack” successive owners

3.  Example: Statutory period is seven years. In 1970, Fred begins adverse possession of property owned by Harold.  In 1975, Fred dies, leaving all his rights to Greta, who continues to adversely possess the property.  In 1976, Harold sells the property to Jane.  Assuming all other requirements have been met, in 1977, Greta will get title, even though she has only held the property for 2 years, and has only held against Jane for 1 year.  Fred's possession is tacked onto Greta's and Harold's ownership is tacked onto Jane's.
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DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

63.  Given the purposes of adverse possession, what is the function of the “continuous” element?  What evidence of this element was there in Lutz? In Bell?

64.  Why did the claimant’s use of the land in Ray satisfy the “continuous” element?  What are the pros and cons of the court’s analysis?  

65.  Why did the claimants in East 13th Street not satisfy the “continuous” element? Is the case distinguishable from Ray? What other evidence would have been helpful on this issue?

( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( (
5.  “Hostile” or “Adverse” (Lack of Permission from the Owner)

A.  Use with permission of the owner does not constitute adverse possession. 


1.  Owner’s knowledge of possessor not equal to permission

 
2.  Unexplained possession presumed hostile in some states. 


3.  PA: If other elements met, hostility presumed

B.
If possessor has consent at first, must take steps to repudiate permission in order to make adverse possession claim.  (E.g., “Dear Floyd, I know you gave me permission to use your ski cabin but I have decided that I like it a lot and it is too good for you.  Thus, I am taking it for myself.  Love, Emily.).

6.  State of Mind of the Adverse Possessor

A.
Jurisdictions vary as to the state of mind they require of the adverse possessor


1.  Most states:  irrelevant


2.  Some:  Must believe self to be true owner (“good faith”)

3.  Some:  Need to know property is not yours (“bad faith”)
B.
Terminology

1. In most states “adverse” or “hostile” refers to permission from owner and not to possessor’s state of mind

2.  A few states use these terms to refer to state of mind


3.
A few states use “claim of right” to refer to state of mind

(a) Typical definition: possessor must indicate he holds the property against the whole world including the true owner.  



(b) May just mean use is of character owner would make.  



(c) Some states use to mean intent to adversely possess
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DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

66. What evidence can you find in the majority opinion in Lutz about the state of mind that the court requires an adverse possessor to have?  
67.  Why arguments does the Washington Supreme Court provide in support of its position that state of mind is irrelevant?  What counterarguments can you identify? What state of mind requirement best serves the purposes of adverse possession?
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7.  Other Recurring Issues in Adverse Possession Doctrine

A.
Burdens of Proof/Negative Presumptions


1.
Adverse possessors generally disfavored by courts


2.  Some states: Need “clear and convincing” evidence to win 



a. More than “preponderance of evidence” (usual civil case)



b. Less than “beyond a reasonable doubt” (criminal case)


3.
Some states: Any doubts resolved in favor of legal owner 

B.
Payment of Taxes by the Adverse Possessor


1.
Usually required by short statutes, esp. if no color of title (see Fl. & Calif.)


2.
Not part of long statutes


3.
Generally irrelevant if owner also paying taxes

C.
Exceptions 
1. Adverse possession won't run in many states against non-possessory interests (e.g., landlords; holders of future interests)


2.  Adverse possession won't run against the government in most states.

3. If owner is in a category of persons who would have trouble enforcing rights, some states will not allow statute of limitations to run during the "disability" if it exists when the possessor first enters possession. (E.g., underage, insanity, imprisoned, out-of-state, military)
8.  SPECIAL ISSUES REGARDING BOUNDARY DISPUTES

A.  Generally:  Tension Between Two Policy Concerns


1.  Diligent landowners monitor the borders of their lots carefully.


2.  Friendly neighbors do not fuss about small intrusions or resurvey frequently to 


protect their borders

B.  State of Mind

1.  Some jurisdictions have no state of mind requirement, so that an honest mistake can yield adverse possession.

2.  Some jurisdictions with no state of mind requirement in other contexts, require “bad state of mind” (intent to adversely possess) in border disputes.  This is called the Maine Doctrine.

3.  California compromises: “(1) Where there is confusion as to the boundary of land, and the occupancy under mistake is without intention to claim another's land, the intention being to claim only to the true line wherever it may be, the holding is not adverse. (2) But where the possessor intends to claim the area occupied as his own, the holding is adverse despite the fact that the claim is based on mistake.”  Sorenson v. Costa (Cal. 1948).

C.  Open and Notorious:  Some jurisdictions require actual knowledge to meet this requirement in a boundary dispute.
John Dorschner, NIGHTMARE ON 68TH STREET

Tropic Magazine, Miami Herald (May 31, 1992) 

A friend told me he’d just seen the oddest thing.  Workmen were sawing in half the carport of an old house.  It looked ridiculous.  The thing was now wide enough for maybe a motorcycle, nothing more. It was on 68th Street, just east of Biscayne Boulevard.  What the hell was happening?  One morning a few days later, I drove by.  It was the most bizarre piece of architecture I’ve ever seen:  a half‑carport.  I parked and got out.  Under its wooden roof were chunks of rocks that looked like they had once been the driveway.  No one seemed to be home.  The windows were shut.  Termites? Could that be it? The big two‑story house was made of wood, but if there were termite damage, you’d think they’d just replace the damaged boards.  I kept staring, trying to fathom the reason behind the half‑carport.  

I didn’t realize it yet, but I was staring at a strange tale of Miami’s history: a story about the strife and discord that can be created by a tiny piece  of real estate.  It’s enough to give old‑line communists ‑‑ discredited and dying practically everywhere in the world ‑‑ a brief rush of hope: Is this proof at last that private property really is a social disease? Perhaps that’s stretching things too far, though as you will see, not by much.  Perhaps it would be better to think of this as a morality tale, about what happens when a neighborhood runs afoul of the 10th Commandment, the one about coveting your neighbor’s property.  These thoughts, however, came later.  

When I first saw the truncated structure, I was busy pondering the specifics of the territory: The three feet to the right of the structure was freshly sodded, with tall, green grass sitting on patches of black dirt.  Then came the neighbor’s fence ‑‑ a serious chain‑link job, 5 1/2‑feet high, surrounding a large yard and a good‑sized two‑story house.  As I studied the sodded section, an elderly woman in a housecoat came over from this concrete house and stared at me through the fence.  I told her I was a journalist.  I wanted to know about the half‑carport.  

‘What’s the big story with that?’ she asked sternly.  ‘Why don’t you do something about the boulevard?’ She looked westward.  Her two‑story house bordered the lot of a Biscayne Boulevard business.  Several yellow rental trucks stood right against her west‑side fence, which was topped by spirals of barbed wire.  ‘Don’t you know what’s happening on the boulevard?’ she asked.  Hookers, tramps, crack addicts ‑‑ I knew.  It had been written about a hundred times.  I myself had written a huge story about it.  What about the half‑carport? ‘What’s so unusual about it?’ she asked.  ‘It’s still a carport.  You can still put a car in there.’ Maybe if the car was unusually narrow ‑‑ the width, say, of a 10‑speed bike.  I pulled out my notebook to write down her comment.  ‘No no no,’ she said, fleeing the sight of the poised pen.  ‘I don’t want to get involved.  Maybe my husband will want to say something.’ His name was George Clark Smith.  ‘Is he home?’ I asked.  She shook her head.  I passed my business card through the fence to her and asked her to have him call.  

Back at the office, I checked The Herald’s computer to see what had been published about the half‑carport house.  I found two stories, both within the past year.  Last October in the real‑estate listings, it was noted that O.D.  Pullen sold the place to Carl A.  Davis for $69,000.  Last March, a Neighbors story about the area, called Bayside, mentioned the house’s historic past: ‘The wooden frame vernacular house was built in the 1920s .  .  .  and moved in 1938 to its present location.  It has pecky cypress interior walls and ceilings, hardwood floors, pocket doors and windows, and a hand‑crafted metal stair railing.’ No mention of a carport.  

That afternoon, George Clark Smith called me.  Speaking in a gruff cracker drawl, he announced that he was an attorney, descended from the third Colonial governor of Massachusetts.  His grandfather, George Haynes, was an early Miami settler, arriving in 1910.  In 1917, Haynes built the two‑story, poured‑concrete, reinforced steel house on 68th Street that George, 73, and his wife, Marie, were still living in.  Originally, the half‑carport house had been on the boulevard, just to the west of them.  But in 1938 it was moved by a Mr.  Pullen to its present location.  Shortly after the move, George Smith said, Mr.  Pullen added a ‘porte‑cochere’ to the house.  The carport.  

Mr.  Smith had always suspected that the porte‑cochere was over the Smiths’ property line, but he really hadn’t paid much attention to it, he said, until the mid‑‘80s, when the Smiths suffered three break‑ins.  They decided they needed more security and wanted to put up a fence.  To see precisely where their property line was ‑‑ and where the fence could go ‑‑ the Smiths had a survey done.  The survey, Mr.  Smith said, proved that several feet of the porte‑cochere were on the Smith property.  By this time Mr.  Pullen had long since died, and the property was owned by his widow, Olive Pullen, who was well known in the neighborhood as a piano teacher.  The Smiths asked Mrs.  Pullen to do something about the porte‑cochere.  She never did, and several years later, when she sold the place to the Davises, the Smiths were irate that the porte‑cochere was still in place.  

‘We paid the taxes all those years on that lot,’ Mr.  Smith said, meaning the disputed three feet, ‘and they could claim no payment of taxes.’ To right this blatant injustice, he said, he filed a formal notice of encroachment on the property.  When the Davises in turn tried to sell, they found a ‘cloud on the title.’ They could do nothing until the encroachment accusation was resolved.  ‘I never asked him to cut it in half,’ Mr.  Smith said.  ‘But we wanted our land back in its original condition, with good soil and a fine, natural‑Florida grass.  And that’s what they did.  End of story.  Nothing to it.’ He indicated there were no hard feelings on anyone’s part.  ‘Why don’t you write a story about what’s happened to Biscayne Boulevard? That’s the real story,’ he said.  

That evening, I knocked on the door of the half‑carport house.  Carl Davis and his wife, Lori, came to the door.  They had been watching television.  Carl was shirtless, Lori was wearing an old blouse and a small cross of gold.  They were in their late 30s.  Their house was a marvelous blend of woods.  The exterior was Dade County pine.  The interior was pecky cypress ceilings and walls.  It had that warm, homey feeling that only wood gives.  When I told them that Mr.  Smith had said there was ‘nothing to it,’ the Davises grimaced.  

‘It’s been a nightmare,’ Lori said.  Carl, a supervisor with a U.S.  government agency, said they had lived in the Virgin Islands, Georgia, Broward and Palm Beach, ‘and we’ve never had anything like this.’ The Davises were both avid antique collectors; Lori was a member of the National Historic Trust Foundation.  As soon as they saw the house last year, they knew it was for them.  They said Olive Pullen said nothing about the disputed carport.  Before closing, Carl said, a survey was done in order to get title insurance, but the survey was only one of dozens of papers at the closing, and Carl didn’t even look at it. Only after the closing, he said, when sifting through the documents, did he see that the survey showed the carport was encroaching on the Smiths’ property.  The encroachment was also listed as an exception on the Davises’ title insurance.  Carl said he called up the attorney who handled the closing and asked why he hadn’t been informed about this before the deal was completed.  It seemed like a serious matter.  The attorney, Carl said, told him, ‘Don’t worry about that.’ Many old properties have encroachments on them and they are meaningless.  At the time, Carl thought that sounded like a good explanation.  

And so the Davises moved in, with their 1977 Mercedes, their 1983 Volvo station wagon and their pet dachshund, Whistle.  The Davises were part of the gentrification trend ‑‑ younger people moving into houses ‘east of the boulevard’ and fixing them up.  The residents of many streets had gotten barricades put up to separate themselves from the boulevard.  One neighborhood, Belle Meade, even put up a guard house.  Property values were going up.  When the Davises were moving in, the Smiths walked across their side yard to their side of the fence and said hello.  The Davises were accustomed to being welcomed to new locations by having neighbors telling them what a great place they had chosen and giving them a little something, like a cheesecake.  But this wasn’t that kind of neighborhood, and the Smiths weren’t those kind of folks.  They were in their 70s; their car was a 1978 Ford LTD.  They tended to see the dark side of the boulevard, not the improvements that gentrification was bringing.  

There is dispute over much of what happened between the Smiths and the Davises, if not over the substance of events, then over the tone in which the debate was conducted.  The Smiths maintain that they were unfailingly polite and reasonable.  The Davises say that’s wrong, that Mrs.  Smith frequently shouted at them.  As they were moving in, the Davises say, the Smiths warned them how scary the neighborhood was, and advised that they not to leave their upstairs windows open, because burglars could climb up there.  Mrs.  Smith said she had a black belt in karate and could toss a man to the ground with a flip of her wrist.  Mr.  Smith gave them advice on how to deal with burglars: ‘You can’t shoot them in the yard.  You have to shoot them in the house.’ No mention was made of the carport.  

That came a few days later, when Carl happened to be standing in the driveway.  Marie Smith came running over.  It was as if she had been waiting at her window for Carl to come outside.  ‘Do you know,’ she shouted, ‘that your carport is on our property?’ ‘Yeah,’ Carl remembers saying, ‘I recognize that the survey does indicate that.’ ‘Well, we want you to take your carport down,’ Mrs.  Smith said.  ‘Either you take your carport down, or we’ll run our fence right through it.’ Carl was astounded.  Was it possible that a carport that had been sitting there for half a century must be torn down? He couldn’t imagine it. Perhaps this outburst by Mrs.  Smith was a one‑time deal.  It wasn’t.  

Soon, the Davises say, shouting about the carport became a regular ritual: Carl would come home from work, pull his car into the disputed structure, and see Mrs.  Smith run up, screaming, ‘When are you going to take the carport down?’ Mr. Smith denies warning the Davises about their upstairs windows.  He acknowledges that his wife is a karate black belt, but says he never said anything about shooting burglars.  His wife never threatened to run a fence through the Davises’ carport.  It was Carl Davis who volunteered the information about the encroachment.  He says neither he nor his wife ever screamed at the Davises.  They always mentioned the problem politely.  

However the message was delivered, it was clear to Carl Davis that he had a serious problem. He decided he needed to do some research.  Part of the problem for the Davises was that their house was in one of the oldest sections of South Florida, and many residents had been there for decades.  Mary Diack, who lived across the street, was known as the Cat Lady because she had about 25 cats, strays that had gravitated to her over the years.  She had lived on 68th Street since 1959, making her one of the newcomers.  George Smith had moved into his grandfather’s house in 1952.  Nearby was Florence Green, an octogenarian who had arrived in the 1920s.  Her in‑laws had helped settle the neighborhood decades before, and she has stayed on in their old, wooden‑jalousied, high‑ceilinged house of poured concrete.  

Originally the area was called Lemon City.  People began living there in the 1880s, usually arriving by boat at a large dock on the bay at the end of what is now 61st Street.  If travelers kept going six miles to the south, along a sandy road, they came to the village of Miami, which was located at the mouth of the Miami River.  In the early 1900s, squads of folks from Elmira, N.Y., began buying lots in Lemon City.  In 1909, an area was platted as Elmira Subdivision.  What is now 68th Street began life as Elmira Street, with two large stone columns marked ‘Elmira’ at the intersection of the street and the sandy road, which eventually become Biscayne Boulevard.  George Clark Smith remembers the place as a small town, where people strolled down the boulevard as they would Main Street, to see and be seen.  

As a boy, George and his grandfather sometimes walked down to the end of Elmira Street, where it met the bay.  There was a pier there, open to everyone, and the boy could fish in the clear waters, catching snapper and sea trout and snook and shiners.  The countryside began around 79th Street, where sprawling strawberry fields covered the area now occupied by the Biscayne Plaza Shopping Center.  ‘They had some of the finest soil there you can imagine,’ George recalled.  ‘Allapattah had very good soil, too, back in those days.  There were a lot of strawberry fields in Allapattah, too.’ Strawberry fields, alas, are not forever.  

After World War II, Miami boomed as a tourist destination, and motels sprouted along U.S. 1, which was now Biscayne Boulevard.  During the winter season in the 1950s, rooms rented for $60 a night ‑‑ more than double what they rent for today.  Where the Exxon station now stands at 61st Street was a huge, thriving drive‑in restaurant called Coconuts, where people got choc malts and fries, as wholesome a place as you’d find anywhere in Eisenhower’s America.  On quiet 68th Street, Florence Green raised a family.  One of her sons was an artist, and in the mid‑1960s he did many paintings for the inside of the new Palm Bay Club, a high‑rise that came to dominate the neighborhood’s waterfront.  The club fenced off the land where George Clark Smith had gone fishing as a boy, but still it seemed like an upscale addition to the neighborhood.  

On the boulevard, however, the changes were decidedly not upscale.  The creation of Interstate 95 made U.S. 1 irrelevant, and the motels became desperate for customers.  Lowering their rates, many became homes to women of dubious repute.  Later came the drug dealers.  Three years ago, I spent several days walking the boulevard for a Tropic cover story: Life On The Edge.  The subhead: This Is No Man’s Land.  He Who Controls It May Control Miami’s Future.  A Walk Through The Battlefield.  The tension arose from the fight between the hookers‑dopers and the yuppie forces that supported places like Real Foods, the organic grocery store.  I talked to hookers, store owners and police officers.  I watched detectives try to piece together a drug‑overdose death.  Biscayne Boulevard had a little of everything.  

‘More than anything, it’s an edge,’ city planner Jack Luft told me.  ‘It’s not a center.  It’s an edge between changing neighborhoods that have not yet settled into a stable pattern.  It doesn’t belong to anybody.  No city street is really going to thrive unless the people on it lay claim to it.  If they don’t, then the hookers and dope dealers take over.’ At the time, I wasn’t certain who was winning the battle for the boulevard, and there was one subsection of the struggle that I missed completely: a tiny monument marker in the middle of the street that surveyors use to get their bearings.  

Jim Shiskin, of Schwebke‑Shiskin, a survey firm that has been in business for more than four decades, says that in the mid‑1970s, when the company did a survey on the street, it noticed all sorts of historical evidence ‑‑ fences, hedges, old boundary markers that showed the 50‑foot‑ and 100‑foot‑lot boundary lines were off by about 2 1/2 feet if measured from the monument marker in the middle of the boulevard.  So do you trust the monument marker or the historic evidence? The Schwebke‑Shiskin people went with the historic evidence.  ‘You can’t ignore historical evidence of old property lines,’ he says.  He figures that at some point in the past, when the boulevard was being widened, the monument marker was removed and then was replaced accidentally about 2.5 feet to the east.  That meant, if the marker were followed, all property lines would be shifted about a yard eastward.  In 1986, prompted by the Smiths’ accusations about the carport, Olive Pullen had a survey done by Schwebke‑Shiskin, which used the historic evidence, not the boulevard marker.  It showed that the carport was four inches away from the Smiths’ land.  ‘We could really sue,’ George Clark Smith says of the surveyors.  He was convinced the marker in the boulevard was the correct measurement, not the ‘historical evidence’ that Shiskin talked about.  

Some months ago, when the Smiths started complaining about the carport, Carl Davis found the old Pullen survey, but it didn’t reassure him: He had also discovered several other surveys that had been done over the years that seemed to indicate the Smiths were right.  The carport was encroaching on the Smiths’ land.  Worried, Carl called another attorney, whom we shall call Attorney No. 2.  No. 2 demanded a $500 retainer, which Carl paid.  For this, No. 2 listened to Carl’s tale of woe, made a few phone calls, maybe did some research and fired off a letter to the attorney at the closing, whom we can call Attorney No. 1.  No. 1 stated that he had fully informed Carl of the problem prior to closing, and there was a title agent who had witnessed the conversation.  The title agent agreed that the conversation had taken place.  The two real‑estate agents at closing said they hadn’t heard it.  Attorney No. 2 told Carl the retainer had been used up and the Davises owed $100 more.  No. 2 wanted another retainer before he did anything else.  Carl didn’t like the sound of this.  Six hundred dollars and what he basically got was one letter? Forget it, he decided.  He paid off the $100 debt, and that was it.  No. 2 stopped working on the case.  

Meanwhile, the Davises say, Mrs.  Smith was continuing to be rather vocal.  The Davises put up an eight‑foot‑high wooden fence on the other side of their property, and Mrs. Smith hated it.  She wondered aloud to Lori Davis if the Davises were trying to hide something.  Perhaps they were taking in ‘boarders,’ in violation of the zoning code.  Lori says that a painter she hired told her that Mrs. Smith had even mocked the Davises’ ‘luxury’ automobile, the 15‑year‑old Mercedes.  Plus, the Davises say, Mrs.  Smith kept screeching about the carport.  

Mr. Smith says that he and his wife did indeed wonder what the big wooden fence was supposed to hide, but they didn’t make any snide remark about the Mercedes.  If someone wants to own a foreign car, that’s fine with Mr. Smith, and he says he felt no envy over the fact that the car was somewhat fancier than his 1978 Ford LTD, which is ‘in perfect running condition.’  Mr. Smith adds that he doesn’t resent younger people moving into the neighborhood, and he likes the rising property values that they’ve brought.  But the Smiths were indeed concerned about the offending carport.  ‘A man’s home is his castle,’ Mr. Smith says simply.  And he was deeply offended that the Davises’ carport was sitting on a sliver of the castle’s grounds.  He says he was serious about getting the land back.  

As the dispute dragged on, dark thoughts started running through Lori Davis’ mind.  She began wondering if the Smiths were angry enough to do something rash.  ‘I’m not living next door to that woman,’ Lori decided.  She says she and Carl had been planning to live on 68th Street for quite a while, but the tension was just too much.  They had already started some home improvements, and now they accelerated them: putting in new electrical wiring, painting the outside, redoing some of the wood finishing inside.  In February, they put their house on the market for $79,000 ‑‑ $10,000 more than they had paid for it last July.  

Within two days, a young flight attendant named Robert Goulet saw the house.  Robert, a distant relation of the famed singer, was living in an apartment in Miami Beach.  He was looking for an old house with a lot of character.  He had put in bids on three different houses and been turned down each time.  He was feeling discouraged, but friends told him everything would turn out all right in the end.  ‘Your house will come along,’ they assured him.  When he saw the Davises’ house, he knew this was the house.  It had four bedrooms, three baths, a full attic ‑‑ and enough character for a dozen old houses.  The Davises told them that there was a running dispute with the Smiths about the carport.  Robert Goulet didn’t care.  He offered the Davises their full asking price: $79,000.  Before closing, a researcher for the title company did a records search, then called Carl: ‘We have a big problem here,’ he told Carl.  A formal notice of encroachment had been filed by George Clark Smith against the Davises’ property.  The house couldn’t be sold until the problem was cleared up.  

Carl and Lori were stunned.  They hadn’t really believed that their neighbor could stop them from selling their house.  They talked to Sharon Bock, who became Attorney No. 3.  Bock told the Davises that they had a good chance of winning a lawsuit, because the carport had been sitting there, legally unchallenged, for 54 years and because the Smiths had not filed an encroachment notice when Mrs. Pullen sold the house.  But there was no absolute guarantee that the court’s verdict would be favorable.  What’s more, the lawsuit would cost a bundle.  If it took $600 to write a letter, the Davises figured, it might take more than $10,000 to bring the case to trial.  Mr. Smith would be fighting them happily and cheaply, because as an attorney, he wouldn’t have to spend a penny in legal fees.  Worse, a drawn‑out lawsuit would mean that the Davises would have to remain neighbors of the Smiths for quite a while, until the lawsuit was settled.  Not good.  

Perhaps, the real‑estate agents suggested, the Davises could just buy the disputed three feet.  Carl suspected that, that was what the Smiths really wanted.  But he wasn’t feeling any generosity toward the Smiths, and negotiating with such adamant folks was not an appealing prospect.  Still, an agent ‑‑ acting on behalf of the buyer ‑‑ called the Smiths and asked what they would take for the disputed land.  Mr.  Smith responded that he wouldn’t part with it, even for $50,000.  Shrinking the size of his property, he said, ‘would ruin our lot situation.’ The carport controversy was becoming a wretched business.  ‘I was shocked and a little sickened,’ the Davises’ real‑estate agent, Norah Schaefer, said about the notice of encroachment.  But what could be done? After weeks of agonizing, Norah suggested a Solomon‑like solution: ‘Cut the damn thing down.’ Or, more precisely, cut it in half: The Davises needed to keep half the carport because it supported an upstairs bathroom, but workmen could chop off half the roof, move the wooden support columns over, and create a half‑carport.  Robert Goulet, the prospective buyer, said that was fine with him.  The carport came down.  

What more needed to be done? Mr.  Smith, in his encroachment notice, demanded that there be ‘restoration of the ground with grass.’ He wanted to approve all changes.  Carl himself took a pickax and chopped up the old coral‑rock driveway.  The old posts had been embedded in concrete.  The Davises checked with Mr.  Smith.  Get rid of the concrete, he demanded.  The Davises did.  They put in black dirt and grass.  What else? asked the Davises.  Mr.  Smith wanted them to remove the backyard fence that touched his fence.  The Davises did.  The Smiths watched all this solemnly.  ‘Look,’ Lori Davis asked Marie Smith at one point, ‘what more do you want from me?’ Well, there was the clothesline.  One pole holding the clothesline was on the Smith property.  Carl took it down.  

The  Davises  had removed everything that could have possibly encroached on the Smiths’ property, but these actions alone could not remove the notice of encroachment.  To do that, they would either have to go to court or get Mr.  Smith to sign a release form.  Attorney No.  3, Bock, offered to send a courier over to pick up the release.  George Clark Smith said no.  He insisted on personally attending the closing.  He arrived wearing one of those old‑fashioned 10‑gallon felt cowboy hats.  At the last moment, he handed over the release. The deal was done: Robert Goulet bought the house.  According to the agreement, the Davises can continue living in the house until today.  When they move, that would seem to be the end of the dispute.  Perhaps it would be in Elmira, N.Y.  But not in Miami.  In Miami, things were just getting started.  

One afternoon, I drifted around the neighborhood.  The Smiths said they had no plans to move their fence to cover their new territory, although they might later.  All Marie Smith was doing was watering the new grass with a hose from inside her fence.  Mary Diack, the Cat Lady, thought what had happened to the carport was awful.  ‘The Davises made such a big improvement with that property,’ she said.  ‘If somebody wants the land back, they shouldn’t wait 50 years.’  Mrs. Green agreed.  She thought the Smiths were being ‘mean’ for demanding that the carport be removed, but she had her own concerns: She was having a new heavy security door installed, along with iron bars.  She was feeling as though she needed more protection.  About a year ago, someone had broken into her house and taken a couple of marble table tops.  That was the second time she had been burglarized in the past decade ‑‑ not bad by neighborhood standards ‑‑ but ‘I noticed I was the only one on the street without bars.’ She spent $2,000 on the bars and the new door.  Neither Mrs.  Green nor Mary the Cat Lady wanted to say anything about the Smiths: Both said they were afraid of getting sued.  (When I had reached Olive Pullen by telephone, she had said the same thing.  She was living quietly in Virginia, and didn’t want to get involved because she feared the Smiths might sue.) 

I walked over to the Smiths’ neighbors on the boulevard side ‑‑ the former motel that had been converted into a travel agency and truck‑rental place.  In the office, a guy sat at a desk, a large jar of jelly and a large jar of peanut butter and a box of crackers in front of him.  From these items he was meticulously making layered treats.  A TV set was showing a Bewitched rerun.  It didn’t look like he was expecting a horde of customers.  ‘I know what you should write about,’ the guy said after I told him who I was.  ‘Let me guess,’ I responded quickly, hoping to cut him off.  ‘The boulevard!’ he shouted, rushing ahead.  He had been on the boulevard since 1960, first with a business called Caribbean Interiors, then with the motel.  ‘I bought this motel back in 1975 and then all the whores started coming in, and I closed it down.’ The police back in 1978 promised him that the boulevard would be cleaned up in a year, but the place had only gotten worse.  Across the street, he was constantly seeing crack dealers and hookers.  

The guy said he didn’t want his name used because he wanted to avoid ‘controversy,’ but he, too, had had run‑ins with the Smiths.  When he’d converted the motel into a truck‑rental agency, he’d put up a fence at the back so thieves couldn’t sneak in at night and take the trucks.  Mr.  Smith had objected, complaining that the fence split a shared driveway that the Smith family had used for generations.  By historic usage, Mr.  Smith claimed, the Smiths really owned the driveway.  But wouldn’t that same argument grant the Davises’ ownership of the carport? I asked the truck guy about that.  He said he hadn’t gotten involved in the Davises’ fight, but years before, during the Smiths’ dispute with Mrs.  Pullen, the piano teacher, he had sided with Mrs.  Pullen and measured the property himself.  He found the Smiths were wrong.  

‘I’ll show you,’ he said, pulling out what might be considered the neighborhood’s weapon of choice: A 100‑foot tape measure.  We went outside.  At the edge of the street, right by the fence that separated his property from the Smiths’, a small metal stake was embedded in the concrete.  ‘This is the property mark,’ he said, attaching the end of the tape to it.  We walked east toward the Davises’ property. About 12 to 18 inches past the Smiths’ fence, the 100 feet stopped.  ‘Look,’ the guy said, pulling out a copy of an old plat map.  ‘Each lot is 50 feet wide.  The Smiths had two lots ‑‑ that’s 100 feet.  The carport didn’t start until about two feet from the fence, so....’ He examined the new half‑carport.  ‘What a shame,’ he said.  ‘There was no need for that.’  

Just then, Mrs.  Smith came running out of her house.  ‘What are you doing?’ she said, eyeing the tape measure.  She could see damn well what he was doing.  He was ... measuring! She stared for a moment at the tape, then swung around and looked at the guy’s property line.  ‘Why do you have your trucks there?’ she asked, resuming the old battle about the unsightly trucks.  ‘Because of all the whores and dope dealers on the boulevard,’ he replied.  ‘You know that.’ ‘You had a nice place,’ she said.  ‘Yes, I did.’ ‘That was your livelihood.’ ‘Yes it was.’ Briefly, they shared mournful observations about the deterioration of the boulevard, then the truck guy left, rolling in his tape as he went.  

Over the next several days, the drama continued.  The truck guy’s son, Julius, re‑did the measurement to show Carl Davis exactly where the property line was, and as they were standing outside, Mrs. Smith ran out, yelling at the son, ‘I’m going to sue you, I’m going to sue you!’ A few days later, she showed up by the fence with some workmen who were staring at the new sod and having discussions.  What was she planning? Moving the fence? 

The next day, I called the Smiths.  Mrs.  Smith reported that, at that very moment, Lori Davis and the truck guy’s son were standing in the street and ... talking.  ‘They’re doing it right now!’ she complained.  The Smiths had no regrets about the battle to claim their additional three feet.  ‘You could never get a loan or sell the property unless that was resolved,’ Mr.  Smith said, though he added that he has no plans to apply for a loan or sell the property.  Still, the apparent resolution of the land dispute did not seem to salve their bitterness.  

Listening to George Clark Smith, descendant of the third governor of Colonial Massachusetts, I got the sense that life had been going downhill for decades.  The small‑town Miami of the 1920s, the placid boulevard where they had once shopped and strolled and met friends, had disappeared.  No coincidence, I thought, that they had first focused on the property dispute after their house had been broken into three times in rapid succession.  I imagined how easily their anger at the decay of the boulevard might have shifted to the carport.  As their world shrank, each square inch of their property became a fighting matter.  In fact, protecting their land seemed the only way they could fight back.  The arrival of the Davises clearly didn’t improve the situation.  Most of their neighbors were overjoyed by the improvements the Davises made.  Not the Smiths.  Though Mr.  Smith says he felt no envy or hostility toward his new neighbors, he did press the encroachment issue in a way that he never had with the elderly Mrs.  Pullen.  

As for the Davises, well, they aren’t feeling all that happy lately, either.  In recent days, they have begun to have second thoughts about chopping the carport in half and selling the property.  ‘This article isn’t going to make us look like fools, is it?’ Carl asked me one day on the phone.  He and Lori had been looking for weeks for a new house, searching for something old with a lot of character.  They could find nothing in their price range and were resigning themselves to moving into a rental. ‘Sometimes, we wonder if we were a little too hasty,’ Carl said.  Prices have been going up quickly in the area.  Is the area really improving?  Depends on who you ask.  

Julius, the son of the guy at the truck‑rental place, still has a lot of complaints about the boulevard.  He still sees lots of hookers and crack dealers, even in the area around the boulevard’s new police mini‑station.  ‘That so‑called station doesn’t do much.  The officers come there to go to the bathroom or make a phone call, that’s it.  It’s a waste of taxpayers’ money.’ Joan Lutton, a long‑time boulevard activist and principal of the Cushman School, disagrees.  She thinks there’s been considerable improvement in the three years since I wrote my story on the boulevard.  Still, her list of improvements is hardly an indication of neighborhood perfection: ‘Police response time is definitely better.  We almost never see a crack dealer.  There are these new signs we have ‑‑ Drug Free School Zone.  A dealer sees one of those and he knows he’s facing an extra penalty if he’s caught.  We used to see pimps beating up hookers.  Now we don’t.  The three or four blocks around us are pretty clean.  We haven’t had a break‑in in over a year ‑‑ knock on wood.  ‘I’ve worked here 13 years.  I grew up in this area.  I went to Miami Edison, and I think this area’s going to get quite good, but it’s never going to be like it was back in the 1950s.  Old‑timers might want that.  They’re not willing to accept all these changes.  But we’ve become a vibrant community, with a lot of variety, and frankly the 1950s were a little bland.  So we’ve had a lot of good changes.’ 

On 68th Street, more changes are on the way.  The Smiths’ new neighbor, Robert Goulet, plans to separate himself from them with a high wooden fence ‑‑ so he will never have to see them.  He’s also talking to neighbors, drumming up support for the idea of barricading the street so it would be separated from Biscayne Boulevard.  ‘We’re going to close the street off!’ he boasts happily.  Guess who doesn’t want the street closed? The Smiths.  They hate the idea of a barricade: It would make it harder for police and firemen to reach them.  Mr. Smith says he represents several Belle Meade residents who are fighting the guard house that was recently installed for their neighborhood.  Such things, he says, are not ‘improvements.’ 

A possibly even more serious conflict is brewing.  This one concerns ‑‑ surprise! ‑‑ property lines.  Recently, after I visited him, the truck guy was struck with an idea ‑‑ a revelation, almost.  It was perfectly clear from the plat maps that the Smiths should have 100 feet along 68th Street, nothing more.  But he could tell from the measurements that, including the newly sodded area, the Smiths were claiming about 103 feet.  So, in classic 68th Street fashion, the truck guy decided to fight back by ...  commissioning a survey! He  figured the Davis‑Goulet three feet is gone.  Those folks surrendered.  Gave up.  Threw in the towel.  But it doesn’t seem right to him that the Smiths get that extra three feet.  So he called a surveyor who came and measured.  The conclusion: The truck guy owned about three feet of land inside the Smiths’ fence.  He dreamed aloud about tearing down the old chain‑link fence with the barbed wire that currently separates his big yellow trucks from the Smiths.  He’d take the extra three feet and build an eight‑foot‑high concrete wall to block off his neighbors.  ‘I can really use it,’ the truck guy said of the additional property.  But he seemed more interested in what the news would do to his neighbors.  ‘This,’ he said gleefully, ‘is really going to steam off the Smiths.’ ‘Getting their just deserts!’ croaked Norah Schaefer, the real‑estate agent, when she heard the news.  ‘Oh beautiful!’ 

‘No! No!’ responded Mr.  Smith when he heard about the new survey.  ‘That’s wrong.’ He insisted those survey people were using the wrong marker.  The idea that he now had 103 feet was irrelevant, he said, because property lines aren’t a matter of measuring with a tape, but relying on markers, and he had had a survey done by a top‑notch man who, he pointed out, had done work for NASA.  ‘He knew his business,’ Mr.  Smith said proudly.  Julius, the truck guy’s son, says baloney: 103 feet is 103 feet, which is three feet too many.  The family attorney sent Mr.  Smith a letter, claiming three feet on the boulevard side.  A week passed.  Suddenly, Mr.  Smith’s mood shifted.  After thinking about it, he said, he understood Julius’ position: ‘He’s entitled to some of it,’ he said of his western border.  ‘I have no objection to him.’ Even if Mr.  Smith concedes this latest turf battle, however, that doesn’t mean that things on the street are going to quiet down.  Because of the marker shift years ago, Julius says, everybody’s property on 68th Street east of the boulevard is going to be moving east by three feet or so.  ‘A lot of neighbors don’t know it, but they’re encroaching on each other.’  Stay tuned.  
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DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

68.  Suppose the case described in Nightmare on 68th Street had gone to court in Florida?  Would the elements of adverse possession have been met?

69.  Why did Mr. Smith emphasize that “We paid the taxes all those years on that lot“?
70.  As the materials suggests, some states analyze the requirement for state of mind and for open and notorious differently in cases involving boundary disputes.  Why might these differences have developed?  Are they appropriate?

71. Suppose the Florida legislature is considering eliminating adverse possession or at least modifying the statute to alter the requirements.  What changes would you advocate? What arguments about the appropriate scope of adverse possession are suggested by the facts of the cases in this section?  What position on adverse possession would an advocate for an environmental advocacy group take?  An advocate for the interests of the homeless?
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REVIEW PROBLEMS
(3A)  Discuss whether Monica’s possession of Rossacre meets the “continuous” element of adverse possession in the following scenario:  Monica claims she has adversely possessed Rossacre because she resided in the two-bedroom house on the property with color of title for ten years, which is the relevant statutory period.  However, during the ten-year period in question, Monica’s leg was shattered in a car accident and she was away from the property for five months while she was first in the hospital and then living at her parents’ house undergoing rehabilitation.  During the five months she was being nursed back to health, she had the utilities and mail service stopped.  She gave her friend David a key to the house and asked him to water the plants and feed Alfonso, her pampered cat.  Instead, David took the cat home himself and fed it there.  David did water the plants at the house once every two or three weeks while Monica was away.

(3B) Discuss whether the growth of the mangroves encroaching onto Leslie’s land in the following scenario meets the “open and notorious” element of adverse possession:   Fresh Mangroves are fast-growing trees, which if left to their natural growth patterns, put down additional roots in an ever-larger area spreading out from their original location. Significant portions of these roots are above the ground.  Leslie and Jennifer own large adjoining plots of land.  Each plot contains a large house, extensive lawns, and many trees and shrubs.  In 1972, knowing of their tendency to spread rapidly, Jennifer planted a line of Fresh Mangroves along the edge of her property adjacent to Leslie’s lot. Neither Leslie nor Jennifer ever trimmed the line of mangroves, but Jennifer regularly watered them and sprayed them with fertilizer and insecticides while standing on her side of the property line.  In 1998, Rene offered to purchase Jennifer’s lot.  A survey revealed that the mangroves had encroached onto Leslie’s property in a strip about fifteen feet wide along the whole property line.  Jennifer now claims the strip by adverse possession.

(3C) Discuss whether David meets the "continuous" element of adverse possession in the following scenario:  David owns an outdoor amphitheater, which he rents out to theater companies and rock groups.  The events at the amphitheater take place about 30-40 days a year, usually on weekends, and usually in the summer.  A hillside, owned by someone else, overlooks the amphitheater.  For a number of years, equal to the statutory period for adverse possession in his state, whenever there has been an event at the amphitheater, David has instructed his employees to rope off the hillside and place sound and lighting equipment there.  When the event is over, he has them remove it.  No other use is made by anyone of the hillside.

(3D) Discuss whether Ariadne has met the actual use requirement for adverse possession  in the following scenario:  Ariadne "Nosey" Parker lives next door to a vacant lot. When she first moved into the neighborhood, graffiti covered the stone wall that surrounded the lot on three sides and garbage was strewn across the lot.  Ariadne repainted the walls, cleaned up the garbage, and planted a hedge across the fourth side of the lot.  For the last ten years, the statutory period for adverse possession in the jurisdiction, she has washed off new graffiti, removed garbage from the lot and trimmed the hedge. 

(3E) Discuss whether Hamlet has met the "exclusive" element of adverse possession in the following scenario:  Cladius dies leaving an invalid will that gives two contiguous properties to Hamlet and Gertrude respectively.  Because the will is invalid, Gertrude is the true owner of both properties.  Hamlet resides on the land he thinks is his for the statutory adverse possession period.  During this time, Gertrude, without Hamlet's permission, regularly goes on to "Hamlet's" land to pick blueberries.  However, she does not go onto "his" land for any other reason. 

(3F) Discuss whether, in the following scenario, John has satisfied the exclusive element of adverse possession regarding all or part of Sun-Acre.  Assume that the relevant statute of limitations is ten years.  In 1992, Ian inadvertently sold Sun-acre at separate times to both John and Kindon, each of whom believes in good faith that he is the owner.  Under the relevant recording statute, Kindon is the legal owner, but he lives out of state and has never visited Sun-acre.  John moved onto Sun-acre on October 1, 1992, and since that date has operated a business growing heather and other decorative plants for resale to nurseries.  


In August 2002, Kindon decided he might like to use Sun-Acre as a horse farm, and hired Genny, who lives near Sun-acre, to help him.  Genny first hired workers to build a half-mile long fence on Sun-Acre just inside the western property line.  When the fence was complete in late September, Genny inspected Sun-Acre for the first time and encountered John and his business.  She failed to make contact with Kindon for several days, so Kindon was unable to file an ejectment action until October 5, 2002.  

John claims to have adversely possessed Sun-Acre on October 1. Kindon’s attorney argues that John’s possession was not exclusive because of the construction of the fence and Genny’s inspection.  John’s attorney argues that the construction of the fence is not sufficient for Kindon to retake the entire farm (a square one-half mile long on each side) and that the inspection by itself was insufficient to toll the statute of limitations.

(3G) The state of Comstock has a 12-year limitations period for adverse possession.  Comstock cases hold that there is no state of mind requirement for adverse possession and define “open and notorious” as “apparent to a reasonable person standing on the surface of the land.”  No Comstock cases address adverse possession in the context of a border dispute.  

The Peterson and Duffy families have owned neighboring five-acre lots in Comstock for many years.  Each family has a large house facing the road on the south end of its respective lot.  The northern portions of the lots are largely wooded and a pond in the woods straddles the property line.  

In 1987, the Petersons planted a vegetable garden north of the pond that was about 30 feet by 30 feet.   Because they accidentally misjudged where the property line crossed the pond, about an 8-foot wide strip of the garden was actually on the Duffys’ land.  Between 1987 and 2006, the Petersons expended considerable labor on the entire vegetable garden through the year, even fertilizing and turning the soil repeatedly during the months when no vegetables were growing.  

In 2006, the Duffys had the property surveyed and discovered that eight feet of the garden was on their side of the property line.  When they were informed of this problem, the Petersons brought a quiet title action in state court, claiming that they had adversely possessed the strip of land.  


After a bench trial, the judge made the following findings of fact:

· The Petersons used the disputed strip like ordinary owners for 19 years.

· The Duffys at no time during that period used the disputed strip in any way.

· A reasonable person standing on the surface of the land would have been able to tell that the Petersons were using it.

· The Duffys never gave the Petersons permission to use the disputed strip.

· Neither the Duffys nor the Petersons knew that the disputed strip was on the Duffys’ side of the property line until the 2006 survey.

The judge, based on these findings and applying the Comstock precedents on adverse possession, held that the Petersons had adversely possessed the disputed strip.

The Comstock Court of Appeals reversed, holding that the rules for border disputes should be different from those used for ordinary adverse possession because there was no need to encourage use of border strips and because the state should not encourage litigation between neighbors.  The court said that Comstock should follow two rules used in other states for border disputes:

(1) To meet the open and notorious requirement, the original owners must have had actual knowledge that their land was being used by someone else.

(2) To meet the state of mind requirement, the adverse possessor must have known the border strip did not belong to him and must have intended to claim it anyway.

The Comstock Supreme Court granted certiorari to determine the appropriate rules in border disputes for (1) the open and notorious requirement and (2) the state of mind requirement. Write drafts of the analysis sections of both a majority opinion and of a shorter dissent for the court determining the appropriate rules for both these requirements in the context of this case.  Assume that the trial judge’s findings of fact are supported by the record and that the Petersons met all the other elements of adverse possession. 
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SOMEONE IN A TREE 

From “Pacific Overtures” (1976)

Lyrics & Music by Stephen Sondheim

OLD MAN

Pardon me I was there.

RECITER

You were where?

OLD MAN

At the treaty house

RECITER

At the treaty house?

OLD MAN

There was a tree

RECITER

Over here?

OLD MAN

Maybe over there

But there were trees then

everywhere

May I show you?

RECITER

If you please

OLD MAN

There were trees

Then everywhere

RECITER

But you were there

OLD MAN

And I was there

Let me show you

RECITER

If you please

OLD MAN

(tries to climb)

I was younger then

(tries again)

I was good at climbing trees

(again)

I was younger then...

(again)

I saw everything!

(Again)

I was hidden all the time...

(again)

It was easier to climb...

(again)

I was younger then...

(again)

I saw everything

(again)

Where they came and where they went

I was part of the event

I was someone in a tree!

(Tries once more)

I was younger then

Suddenly a Young boy appears, scurries across the stage and up the tree)

BOY

(to the old man)

Tell him what I see!

OLD MAN

I am in a tree

I am ten

I am in a tree

BOY

I was younger then

OLD MAN

In between the eaves I can see --

(to the boy)

Tell me what I see

(to the reciter)

I was only ten

BOY

I see men and matting

Some are old, some chatting

OLD MAN

If it happened, I was there!

BOTH

I saw/see everything

BOY

Tell him what I see

OLD MAN

Some of them have gold on their coats

BOY

One of them has gold 

(to the reciter)

He was younger then

Old man

Someone crawls around, passing notes --

BOY

Someone very old--

OLD MAN

(to the reciter)

He was only ten

BOY

And there’s someone in a tree--

OLD MAN

--Or the day is incomplete

BOTH

Without someone in a tree,

Nothing happened here

OLD MAN

I am hiding in a tree

BOY

I’m a fragment of the day

BOTH

If I weren’t who’s to say

Things would happen here the way

That they happened here?

OLD MAN

I was there then

BOY

I am here still

It’s the fragment, not the day

OLD MAN

It’s the pebble, not the stream

BOTH

It’s the ripple, not the sea.

Not the building but the beam.

Not the garden but the stone.

Not the treaty house.

Someone in a tree.

WARRIOR

(slides panel open underneath the house)

Pardon me, I am here --

If you please, I am also here--

OLD MAN

They kept drinking cups of tea

BOY

They kept sitting on the floor

BOTH

They drank many cups of tea.

(To each other)

No, we told him that before

WARRIOR

If you please, I am here.

RECITER

You are where?

WARRIOR

In the treaty house.

RECITER

In the treaty house?

WARRIOR

Or very near

RECITER

Can you hear?

WARRIOR

I’m below

RECITER

So I notice

WARRIOR

Underneath the floor

And so I can’t see anything

I can hear them

But I can’t see anything

RECITER

But can you hear?

WARRIOR

But I can hear

Shall I listen?

RECITER

If you please

WARRIOR

I can hear them now...

I shall try to shift my knees...

I can hear them now...

I hear everything...

I’m the part that’s underneath

With my sword inside my sheath

I can hear them now

One is over me...

If they knock, then I appear

I’m a part of what I hear

I’m the fragment underneath

I can hear them now!

RECITER, OLD MAN, BOY

Tell us what you hear!

WARRIOR

First, I hear a creak and a thump

Now I hear a clink

Then they talk a bit

Many times they shout when they speak

Other times they think

Or they argue it...

I hear floorboards groaning...

Angry growls, much droning

Since I hear them, they are there

As they argue it

I’m the listener underneath

BOY

(peering into the house)

Someone reads a list 

From a box

WARRIOR

(listening)

Someone talks of laws

OLD MAN

Then they fan a bit

BOY

Someone bangs a fist

WARRIOR

Someone knocks

OLD MAN

Now there was a pause

ALL

They they argue it

WARRIOR

-But we want...

-No, you can’t

-And we won’t...

-But we need it

And we want

-Will you grant - ?

-If you don’t...

-We concede it...

[SIMULATEOUSLY:]

OLD MAN

And they sat

Through the night

And they lit

Yellow tapers

I was

There 

Then

If  I

weren’t who’s to

Say

Things would

Happen here the

Way

That they’re

happening?


WARRIOR

I can hear

Them

I’m a 

Fragment of the

Day

If  I 

weren’t who’s to

Say

Things would

Happen here the

Way

That they’re 

Happening?




BOY

And they

Chat

And they fight

And they sit

Signing papers

I am

There

Still

If  I 

Weren’t who’s to

Say

That they’re 

Happening?

ALL

It’s the fragment not the day

It’s the pebble not the stream

It’s the ripple, not the sea

That is happening

Not the building but the beam

Not the garden but the stone

Only cups of tea

And history

And someone in a tree

( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( (
John Henry Wigmore, The Principles of Judicial Proof (2d ed. 1931)
§180 ... Imaginative Representations.  Illusions of sense, hallucinations, and illusions proper, taken as a group, differ from imaginative representations, because the individual who has the former is more or less passive and subject to the thing from which they arise, while with the latter the individual is more active and creates new images by the combination of existing or only imagined conditions... . 


Let us take the simplest possible instance of such a situation.  In a bowling alley, two youths, A and B, had a lively quarrel, in which A held the ball in his hand and threatened to throw it at B's head.  B, frightened, ran away, A pursued him, after a few steps threw the ball into the grass, caught B, and then gave him an easy blow with the flat of his hand on the back of his head.  B began to wabble, sank to the ground, became unconscious, and showed all the signs of a broken head (unconsciousness, vomiting, distention of the pupils, etc.). All the particular details of the event are unanimously testified to by many witnesses, nonpartisan friends of A and B, and among them the parish priest.  Simulation is completely excluded inasmuch as B, a simple peasant lad, certainly did not know the symptoms of brain fever, and could not hope for any damages from the absolutely poor A. Let us now consider what the nearest facts are.  The elements of the case are: B sees a heavy ball in A's hand; A threatens B with it and pursues him; B feels a blow on the head.  The compounding of these elements results in the invincible assumption on B's part that A had struck him on the head with the ball.  The consequence of this imaginative feeling was the development of all the phenomena that would naturally have followed if B had actually been struck on the head.


It would be wrong to say that these cases are so rare as to be useless in practice.  We simply do not observe them, for the reason that we take much to be real because it is confirmed reliably.  More accurate examination would show. that many things are merely imaginative.  A large portion of the. contradictions we meet in our cases is explicable by the fact that one man is the victim of his fancies and the other is not... .  Perhaps all imaginative people are likely to take their imaginings as actual remembered events and persons.  If this happens to a witness, what trouble he may cause us!  A physician, Dr. Hadekamp, said that he used to see the flow of blood before he cut the vein open; another physician, Dr. Schmeisser, confirms this experience.  Such cases can be checked physically, for the flow of blood cannot be seen before the knife is removed.  Yet how often, at least chronologically, do similar mistakes occur when no such check is present?

§181 Misunderstangs:  (1)Verbal Misunderstandings.  Here too it is not possible to draw a:n absolutely definite boundary between acoustic illusions and misunderstandings.  Verbally we may say that the former occur when the mistake, at least in its main characteristic, is due to the aural mechanism.  The latter is intended when there is a mistake in the comprehension of a word or of a sentence.  In this case the ear has acted efficiently, but the mind did not know how to handle what had been heard and so supplements it by something else in connection with matter more or less senseless.  Hence, misunderstandings are so frequent with foreign words.  Compare the singing of immigrant school children, 'My can't three teas of tea' for 'My country 'tis of thee,' or 'Pas de lieu Rhone que nous' with 'Paddle your own canoe.'


The question of misunderstandings, their development and solution, is of great importance legally, since not only witnesses but clerks and court reporters are subject to them.  If they are undiscovered they lead to dangerous mistakes, and their discovery causes great trouble in getting at the correct solution. ... I cite a few of the errors that I have observed.  From an interview with the suspect: 'On the twelfth of the month I left Marie Tomizil' (instead of, 'my domicile').  Instead of "irrelevant'--'her elephant.' ... How easily and frequently people misunderstand is shown by the oath they take.  Hardly a day passes on which at least one witness does not say some absolute nonsense while repeating it.

(2) Other Misunderstandings.  ... Most instances occur when we do not hear distinctly what another person is saying and supplement it with our own notions.  Here the misunderstanding is in no sense linguistic, for words do not receive a false meaning.  The misunderstanding lies in the failure to comprehend the sense of what we have heard, and the substitution of incorrect interpretations.


I assert that only that has been reliably seen which has been drawn.  My father asked my drawing teacher to teach me not to draw but to observe.  And my teacher, instead of giving me copies, followed the instruction by giving me first one domino, then two, then three, one upon the other, then a match box , a book, a candlestick, etc.  And even to-day, I know accurately onlv those objects in the household which I had drawn.  Yet frequently we demand of our witnesses minutely accurate descriptions of things they had seen only once, and hastily at that.


And even if the thing has been seen frequently, local and  temporal problems may make great difficulties.  For example, if you have traveled numerous times on the train from A to B, and for once you start your journey from C, which is beyond A, the familiar stretch from A to B looks quite different and may even become unrecognizable.  The estimation of time may exercise considerable influence on such and similar local effects... .  One needs only to observe how quickly witnesses tend to identify objects presented for identification: e.g., knives, letters, purses, etc.  To receive for identification and to say yes, is often the work of an instant.  The witness argues, quite unconsciously, in this fashion : 'I have given the judge only one clew (perhaps different from the one in question), now here again is a clew, hence, it must be the one I gave him.'  That the matter may have changed, that there has been some confusion, that perhaps other witnesses have given similar things, is not at all considered.  Here again we have to beware of confusing of identities with similarities.


Finally, we must consider fatigue and other conditions of excitation.  A witness who has been subjected to a prolonged and fatiguing examination falls into a similar condition and knows at the end much less than at the beginning.  Finally, he altogether misunderstands the questions put to him.  The situation becomes still worse when the defendant has been so subjected to examination, and becomes involved, because of fatigue, etc., in the familiar 'contradictions.'  If 'damaging contradictions' occur at the end of a long examination of a witness or a defendant, it is well to find out how long the examitiation took.  If it took much time the contradictions mean little."

§193. (b) Differences of Memory-Capacity The differences in memory which men exhibit are not, among their other human qualities, the least.  As is well known, this difference is expressed not only in the vigor, reliability, and promptness of their memory, but also in the field of memory, in the accompaniment of rapid prehensivity by rapid forgetfulness, or slow prehensivity and slow forgetfulness, or in the contrast between narrow, but intense memory, and broad but approximate memory.


Certain special considerations arise with regard to the field of greatest memory.  As a rule, it may be presupposed that a memory which has developed with especial vigor in one direction has generally done this at the cost of memory in another direction.  Thus, as a rule, memory for numbers and memory for names exclude each other. My father had so bad a memory for names that very frequently he could not quickly recall my Christian name, and I was his own son. ... On the other hand, his memory for figures was astounding.  He noted and remembered not only figures that interested him for one reason or another, but also those that had not the slightest connection with him, and that he had read merely by accident.  He could recall instantaneously the population of countries and cities; I remember that once  in the course of an accidental conversation, he mentioned the production of beetroot in a certain country for the last ten  years, or the factory number of my watch that he had given me fifteen years before and had never since held in his hand.


Such various developments are numerous and of importance for us, because we frequently are unwilling to believe the witness testifying in a certain field for the reason that his memory in another field had shown itself to be unreliable.  ... These fields seem to be of a remarkably narrow extent.  Besides specialists (numismatists, zoologists, botanists, heralds, etc.) who, apart from their stupendous memory for their particular matters, appear to have no memory for other things, there are people who can remember only rhymes, melodies, shapes, forms, titles, modes, service, relationships, etc. 


It is a matter of experience that the semi-idiotic have an excellent memory and can accurately reproduce events which are really impressive or alarming, and which have left effects upon them.  Many a thing which normal people have barely noticed, or which they have set aside in their memory and have forgotten, is remembered bv the semi-idiotic and reproduced. On the contrary, the latter do not remember things which normal people do, and which in the latter frequently have a disturbing influence on the important point they may be considering.  Thus the semi-idiotic mav be able to describe important things better than normal people.


Similar experiences are yielded in the case of the memory of children.  Children and animals live only in the present, because they have no historically organic ideas in mind.  They react directly upon stimuli, without any disturbance of their idea of the past.  This is valid, however, only for very small children.  At a later age children make good witnesses, and a well-brought-up boy is the best witness in the world.  We have only to keep in mind that later events tend in the child's mind to wipe out earlier ones of the same kind.  ... 



That aged persons have, as is well known, a good memory for what is long past, and a poor one for recent occurrences, is not remarkable.  It is to be explained by the fact that age seems to be accompanied with a decrease of energy in the brain, so that it no longer assimilates influences, and the imagination becomes dark and the judgment of facts incorrect.


We have seen it stated more than once that an uneducated villager could not possibly have remembered all he stated in court and has clearly been taught by the police or the headman of the village or by whoever can conveniently be made the villain of the piece.  We would therefore warn the reader that there are no valid grounds for attributing bad memory to uneducated persons.  We do not suppose that a similar dictum would be accepted if the  witness were a philosopher or a mathematician, yet it is a psychological fact that savages and uneducated persons have more powers of visualizing than persons whose interests are rather in the abstract: but there is also another reason.  Where the range of interest is narrow, it is concentrated, and, as pointed out in the case of the idiot, the memory is therefore likely to be exact within the limits of observation.  Good  memory is partly due to the interest we take in a matter and partly mechanical, and the educated rarely have the latter kind because they have developed the former at its expense: high mental power is seldom combined with good mechanical memory.  You may gee sometimes how well ponies remember a road, because they do not think as they go along and so the landmarks are the only things impressed on them: the savage is a modified instance of the same kind.  That he should have an excellent memory of the mechanical kind might have been suggested by the way that Homer's poems and other long epics have been handed down correctly by quite uneducated persons. ... 

§194. Fixation of Memory: by Emotion.  There is a mistaken impression that fear prevents attention to what is going on and therefore hinders memory, and it has been argued before the writer more than once that a narrative or an identification is not reliable because the witness being frightened at the time could not have noticed or recollected what she states.  This is a frequent incident of a dacoity or robbery case.  It is well, therefore, to state exactly what the effect of fear is.  It may be that the fear is so great as to totally paralyze the mind, as e. g. when the serpent fascinates its prey, and in such cases the argument would have foundation.  But this is rarely so, and usually a person under its influence observes better and remembers clearly.  Nor it this strange if we realize the character of emotion.  “Fear,” says Darwin, “is often preceded by astonishment, and is so far akin to it that both lead to the sense of sight and hearing being instantly aroused.  It leads us to attend minutely to everything around us because we are then specially interested in them, as they are likely to intimately concern us.”  ...


To the same effect again Professor Sully says: “The essential element in interest is feeling, and any marked accompaniment of feeling, whether pleasurable or painful, is, as we all know, a great aid to retention.”  ...  He then points out that great emotion tends to color or give a particular direction to the ideas of the time, a fact also noted by Professor James as follows: “When any strong emotional state whatever is upon us, the tendency is for no images but such as are congruous with it to come up.  If others by chance offer themselves, they are instantly smothered and crowded out.” There is then this danger, for it will equally affect our recollection of events.  But apart from this, the effect of fear, so far from hindering recollection, is to aid it by giving exceptional vividness, distinctness, and persistence to the images called up at the time.

§195. [Fixation of Memory:] by Contemporaneous Events.  "It is characteristic, as is popularly known, that memory can be intensified by means of special occasions. ... Spartan boys were whipped at the boundary stones of their country in order that they might recall their position; even nowadays our peasants have the custom, when setting up new boundary stones, of grasping small boys by the ears and hair in order that they shall the better remember the position of the new boundary mark when, as grown men, they will be questioned about it.  This being the case, it is safer to believe a witness when he can demonstrate some intensely influential event which was contemporaneous with the situation under discussion, and which reminds him of that situation... .



Whatever may especially occur to aid the memory of an event, occurs best at the place where the event itself happened ... Then the differences between what has passed, what has been later added, and what is found to-day can be easily determined by sticking to the rule ... that the recognition of the present as present is always necessary for the eventual recognition of the past.  Kant has already suggested what surprising results such an examination will give: 'There are many ideas which we shall never again in our lives be conscious of, unless some occasion cause them to spring up in the memory.' But such a particularly powerful occasion is locality, inasmuch as it brings into play all the influences which our senses are capable of responding to.

§196. [Fixation of Memory:] by Intervening Repetition. When an actual impression cannot be repeated, its reproduction will to some extent have the same result; thus we can keep the images of remote experiences from disappearing by periodically reviving them, as when children talk with their parents about common experiences of the past. ...  Now, looked at as a revival of memory, it may be a valuable thing for witnesses to talk over their experiences with one another before giving evidence; but this aspect of it is entirely left out of account in the view which is usually taken of it.  Its sole object is always taken to be to concoct together a story which each will tell consistently; if a witness adtnits in the box that he has talked over the matter with another witness before entering the court, he is as often as not considered unreliable merely on that account.  We do not wish to maintain that no evidence is concocted, or that it is never concocted in this manner; but we do protest against such a view being invariably taken.  We suggest as an alternative that talking over the occurrences beforehand may sometimes by reviving the memory render the evidence given, not less, but more reliable.

§197. [Fixation of Memory:] by Peculiar Individual Expedients.  In a list of inquiries made on the subject of Memory, the following was Question 11: 'Describe fully any aids to memory which you have found useful.  How do you fix in mind and recall (a) figures, dates, dimensions; (b) forms of faces, microscopic structures, leaves, crystals, patterns, figures on the wall, carpet or dress, phrases in music, and the cut of the dresses? (c) How do you fix and recall passages of prose and poetry, declamations, and recitations?  Why and how do you memorize fine passages? In learning foreign languages, describe devices for fixing new forms and phrases.  Describe your system of keeping appointments.' .[Among the replies may be noted the following:]


Figures are mentally represented as clearly as possible, --  a 'picture as they look printed or written.' A child thought of the figures to be carried in division as 'gone up in the attic';  he would 'call up attic to see if anything was there.' One 'locates them on a certain page of a book.' Several 'write them a few times.' Three visualize in colored terms.  Female, age 19, recalls the letter A as black on a red background.  Female, age 21: 'Words seemed colored.  My name is red, my sister's is yellow.  I often remember by color.'  Male, age 18: 'I remember figures by color.'  Association helps; a college student writes:
'I associate figures with what is familiar.  If I hear that Mr. A. receives $5000 salary I say to myself that is five times as much as in salary as my old school teacher got.  After this the salary is easily recalled.’  Place-localization, and association, are chiefly relied upon.  Some have a kind of mnemonic system, and group or reverse the numbers.  One associates the figure 8 with a doughnut.  


Faces are recalled by types.  After fixing the type to which it belongs, the eyes, hair, nose, cheek bones, complexion, and scars are noted.  A college student writes: 'I try to trace a resemblance between a strange face and one I know.' A middle-aged woman takes careful notice of the hand; she has a poor memory for faces, but can often locate the person by the hand.  A normal student writes the initial of the person or place on the left hand; after it has been erased, she still visualizes it there.  One analyzes the features; 'if any feature resembles a well-known face, it is easily recalled.' ... 


Phrases in music are recalled by playing, or by attempting to play, or by humming the tune.  College student, m, age 22: 'I recall the time intervals and note the first part of the theme; I recall the rest by association.  Female, age 17, normal student: 'l remember phrases in music by thinking if they are similar to phrases in any selections that I have heard.' ... It is worthy of note that some excellent musicians recall music better after an interval; they cannot immediately reproduce it, if they have enjoyed it intensely; sometimes an interval of a day or two is necessary in order to recall it well.  It is quite possible that there is a modification of the basilar membrane which serves as a basis for subsequent recall. ...



Passages of prose and declamations are memorized by paying attention to the thought.  After the thought is fixed, it easily clothes itself in language. Not a few, however, memorize mechanically, attention being paid especially to the beginnings and endings of sentences.  Repetition and reading aloud are frequently mentioned.  Clear mental representation and a purely local memory are of service.  Male, 17: 'I usually memorize by imprinting the object and its surroundings on my mind like a negative.  In memorizing Lew Wallace's "Chariot Race” comprising 16 pages, I read it through twelve times.  I imprinted the photograph of the page on my mind, and then read  what I saw.' ...



A large number of devices are given for keeping appointments.  Females change rings, insert paper under a ring, pin paper on dress, etc.  There are other favorite mechanical devices.  Chairs are turned over, and other furniture disarranged.  A middle-aged man hid his hat to remind him of an appointment; next morning he hunted up another hat, but did not recall why the one usually worn was gone.  One associates appointments with the hands of the clock at the hour fixed.  Not a few find it necessary to repeat the appointment again and again.  Others are aided by a memorandum.  As a rule those who say their memories are utterly untrustworthy do not use notes.  Yet W., m., age 26, writes that the only appointment he has missed for years is one which he noted down.  Female, age 16, writes: 'To keep an appointment I write the first letter of the person or place connected with the appointment on my left hand.  Even if it be erased, I still imagine it there.' Clear mental representation is the great help in such cases."

§198. Recollection by Recognition of Associated Marks; "Giving Reasons" for Recalling. "Why do we always want a reason; i.e. something intermediate, as an explanation of recollection?  If a man recognizes a coat, he must mention a mark; if he recollects a date, he must mention some approximate event to prove it, etc.  But why again does not the same feeling recur as to the mark, event, etc., and so on, ad infinitum?  ... The importance of marks, proximate events, etc., as auxiliary ideas producing the feeling of recognition is ... plain, and it is not necessary to go back and seek again further marks or events to confirm these, because as soon as we have by their aid consciously localized the past impression in time and space, we have got the feeling of recognition that we require and are satisfied... .


But we must insist that reasons for recollecting events cannot always be given.  It is dangerous to press native witnesses for them, as it only results in their inventing some transparently fictitious explanation, which tends to discredit them unnecessarily.  There is nothing strange, as some advocates seem to think, in witnesses recollecting some events and not others, for our memories restore to us only fragments of our past life and often what now seems to us only insignificant details of a scene or incident.

( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( (
William H. Calvin, The River That Flows Uphill 376-380 (1987)

Our memories are continually being altered, transformed, and distorted.—

Psychologist Elizabeth Loftus

The schema is the starting point for a discussion of scenario-type consciousness.  A schema is like the round hole that you're supposed to fit the round peg into, rather than the proverbial square one; you can imagine a family of cookie-cutters being tried out on a Christmas cookie, seeing which one fits.  The schemata-templates in the brain, always on the lookout for a passing pattern in the sensory input that matches one or another of them, are each an average of past experience with that pattern, not a specific instance of a past experience.  We see something not so much by making a permanent record but by a back-and-forth process of matching the input pattern with candidate schemata.

Perfect fits aren't always required -- and that can produce some appalling consequences.  One tends to fill in details that aren't there; they're in the stored schema so one perceives that they're present in reality (an imperfect star-shaped Christmas cookie may, for example, be seen as perfect unless one studies it closely).  This poses a terrible problem when it comes to eyewitness testimony, since people really do tend to see what they expect to see.  Thoreau said it well:  "We hear and apprehend only what we already half know."

That's probably where the canals on Mars came from.  The American astronomer Percival Lowell, who correctly predicted the existence of the theretofore unknown planet Pluto, sketched what he saw of Mars through the telescope he had built in 1888 on a hilltop down in Flagstaff (known locally as Mars Hill).  Lowell drew a network of interlocking lines which suggested to him a network of canals of the kind that were very popular in the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries before the railroads took over.  They were just too regular to be natural.  Hence there was not only life on Mars, but civilization!

Others looked through their telescopes to see these wonders and saw only a patchwork of features which, to them, looked nothing at all like canals.  Did some people see things that others didn't, in the manner of visual illusions?  The British astronomer Walter Maunder at the Greenwich Observatory tried an experiment with a class of schoolboys at the beginning of the twentieth century, at the height of the canal craze.  He made a series of drawings showing the main patterns of light and shade on Mars, but without the canals.  He set them up at a distance from the class, so that they saw them about as large as the image of Mars appeared in the telescopes to the astronomers.  Then he asked the schoolboys to draw them.  Quite a few of them inserted canal-like features into their drawings.  Arthur C. Clarke repeated the experiment with a group of schoolgirls in Sri Lanka seven decades later, and got the same result.  In modem psychological terminology, we'd probably now say that Lowell and those schoolchildren were "filling in" according to a schema already in their heads.  Different people do see different things.

We usually distinguish between schematic memories of overlearned things, such as familiar words, and the episodic memory of a unique happening.  Granted, schemata are comprised of a number of episodes.  But suppose you cannot keep the first episode separated in your memory from the developing schemata for the repeated occurrences?  Recalling a memory, mulling it over, can constitute such a repeated occurrence.  Alas.

A schema develops over time, from a series of experiences.  It's the sensory equivalent of a motor skill.  Episodic memory is the storage of a brief series of events, something like a strip of movie film.  Naturally, schemata are built up of the average of a number of episodes.  Unfortunately, the memory of the first episode can be blurred by somewhat similar repetitions (I can no longer remember the first time that I heard the word "runaround").  And there is now some evidence that even recalling the memory of the first episode constitutes a repeated experience, that the recalled memory modifies the stored memory.  That wouldn't be a problem if we never made mistakes, or never filled in things that weren't actually there.  But we do, and so our memories are malleable.  

Eyewitness testimony ... is often modified by previous retellings of the story: should a witness make a mistake in the third retelling, it may tend to be adopted as the true version in fourth and fifth retellings.

You can literally fool yourself.  And of course skillful prompting during witness rehearsal before a courtroom appearance may tend to make you see things differently (and this need not be intentional -- simply showing a witness mug shots may make that witness, during subsequent questioning, substitute the face in a photo for the actual face seen).  Since you no longer have the correct memory stored to nag your conscience, you may make a very persuasive witness.




A schema can represent a triangle or a box; in hearing, it can be the sound of "Ah" or of a door closing; in skin sensation, the feel of a key or of a pencil.  And then there are higher-level abstractions that are made from these more elementary ones.

Take a comb: there is a visual schema which represents a comb, all those teeth attached to a spine; indeed, because the comb may be seen from many different angles, the schemata must be able to recognize it as seen from on end and obliquely.  There is the sensation of a comb running through your hair, and a quite separate sensation of a comb which you use to find it while rummaging through a pocket or purse.  There is also an auditory schema that signals "comb" -- that characteristic sound of plucking the teeth of the comb.  Then there is the characteristic smell of a comb.  A chimpanzee could have all those schemata, if it were experienced with a comb, and it would probably associate them all, too.  With language comes another schema, the tone-time pattern that monitors the sound of "comb" being, pronounced.  Finally, there is a motor template (to stretch the traditional schema concept a little) for producing the breathing-oral-laryngeal muscle sequence that ends up producing the sound "comb."

Asking where the concept "comb" is stored in the brain can thus become a little complicated; if a stroke patient cannot name a comb when shown a picture of it, you have to find out where along the line the message got lost.  Let us assume the patient can match up pictures of combs, and can say "comb" if you ask him what "C-0-M-B" spells.  If a stroke has severed the connections between visual and language cortex, the patient may have difficulty naming a picture of a comb, but will immediately name it if allowed to handle one.  This is one of what are called the "disconnection syndromes."  But they're not so simple.  Since there are intact connections between visual and somatosensory cortex, and between somatosensory cortex and language cortex, some patients might eventually succeed by using the visual schema to trigger the somatosensory schema (of how the comb feels), and thus the language schema in this roundabout way.

... [S]uch ingenious loops are one way in which [stroke] patients ... eventually overcome their reading problems: since they can still recognize individual letters, they spell a word out loud to themselves: "C-A-T, why that's cat!",  thus constructing a loop that actually goes out the mouth and back in through the ears.  Hearing "C-A-T" triggers the word schema in language cortex, even though the direct connections from the visual cortex to the language cortex will no longer match up the visual three-letter group "CAT" with the word, because the nerve fibers have been severed.  Eventually, such patients may speak silently, the muscle feedback from mouthing the word seemingly sufficient for them to identify the word.  Such examples also show that we don't normally piece together a common word letter by letter, but instead have schemata that recognize multi-letter groups all at once. ...

Consciousness is ever ready to explain anything we happen to find ourselves doing.  The thief narratives his act as due to poverty, the poet his as due to beauty, and the scientist his as due to truth, purpose and cause inextricably woven into the spatialization of behavior in consciousness. . . .  A stray fact is narratized to fit with some other stray fact. . . .  A cat is up a tree and we narrative event into a picture of a dog chasing it there. --  JULIAN JAYNES
We string things together into scenarios.  Consciousness seems like memory, in the sense that it allows one to call up a schema and "look at it." But consciousness usually does much more than that: it creates a string of schemata.  And then a somewhat different string.  It sees which is better, and perhaps stops there, or maybe keeps inventing and comparing a little longer.  If we're talking about word schemata, that's how you can construct a short sentence in your head before uttering it. Sometimes we're aware of the picking and choosing process, as when I look at the river and think it is blue, switch to green, search my memory a little more, perhaps settle on blue-green or muddy, and then say: "It reminds me of the snotgreen sea, which was James Joyce's parody on Homer's wine-dark sea."

Consciousness is often very sequential: we literally create a stream of consciousness, piecing together elements from memory and fantasy, manufacturing a narrative, rejecting it as too fantastic (tasting a comb?), or playing around with it until it "makes sense.  " In dreams, our criteria for making sense are relaxed and so the narrative skips around, creating fantastic juxtapositions of impossible times, places and people.

But when awake, one does a good job of matching schemata to input patterns, and consciousness does a good job of weaving together past and present into a reasonable narrative.  One can see this process fail in people who have lost their ability to create new memories....  Ask them what they had for breakfast, and they'll invent something reasonable, not having successfully stored that information earlier in the day while actually eating breakfast (making up stories for such reasons is known as "confabulation" in neurology).  These patients are probably unaware that they're doing this; they're simply filling holes in a sequence as best they can.  Our stream of consciousness often fills in missing details, not unlike the way in which a visual schema fills in the missing spatial details of an imperfect cookie.

Chapter 4: Eminent Domain 
& the Public Use Requirement

DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

72.  The government typically uses its eminent domain power to purchase land to build schools, roads, and other government public works projects.  Why do we allow the government to force parties to sell it property?  Why not make the government bargain with the current owner like any other party that wishes to purchase land?

73.  The courts have read the “just compensation” language of the Fifth Amendment to require that the government pay fair market value for any property it purchases using the Eminent Domain power.  If the property owner is receiving a fair price, why do we need any limits on the government’s ability to exercise Eminent Domain?  How is the property owner harmed?

74.  What might “public use” mean as it is used in the Fifth Amendment?  Why is this particular limitation placed on the government’s ability to force owners to sell their property?
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HAWAII HOUSING AUTHORITY v. MIDKIFF

467 U.S. 229 (1984)

Justice O’CONNOR delivered the opinion of the Court. These cases present the question whether the Public Use Clause of [the Fifth] Amendment, made applicable to the States through the Fourteenth Amendment, prohibits the State of Hawaii from taking, with just compensation, title in real property from lessors and transferring it to lessees in order to reduce the concentration of ownership of fees simplea in the State. We conclude that it does not.

I.  A.  The Hawaiian Islands were originally settled by Polynesian immigrants from the western Pacific. These settlers developed an economy around a feudal land tenure system in which one island high chief, the ali’i nui, controlled the land and assigned it for development to certain subchiefs. The subchiefs would then reassign the land to other lower ranking chiefs, who would administer the land and govern the farmers and other tenants working it. All land was held at the will of the ali’i nui and eventually had to be returned to his trust. There was no private ownership of land. 

 
Beginning in the early 1800’s, Hawaiian leaders and American settlers repeatedly attempted to divide the lands of the kingdom among the crown, the chiefs, and the common people. These efforts proved largely unsuccessful, however, and the land remained in the hands of a few. In the mid‑1960’s, after extensive hearings, the Hawaii Legislature discovered that, while the State and Federal Governments owned almost 49% of the State’s land, another 47% was in the hands of only 72 private landowners.  The legislature further found that 18 landholders, with tracts of 21,000 acres or more, owned more than 40% of this land and that on Oahu, the most urbanized of the islands, 22 landowners owned 72.5% of the fee simple titles. The legislature concluded that concentrated land ownership was responsible for skewing the State’s residential fee simple market, inflating land prices, and injuring the public tranquility and welfare.


To redress these problems, the legislature … considered requiring large landowners to sell lands which they were leasing to homeowners. However, the landowners strongly resisted this scheme, pointing out the significant federal tax liabilities they would incur. Indeed, the landowners claimed that the federal tax laws were the primary reason they previously had chosen to lease, and not sell, their lands. Therefore, to accommodate the needs of both lessors and lessees, the Hawaii Legislature enacted the Land Reform Act of 1967 (Act), which created a mechanism for condemning residential tracts and for transferring ownership of the condemned fees simple to existing lessees. By condemning the land in question, the Hawaii Legislature intended to make the land sales involuntary, thereby making the federal tax consequences less severe while still facilitating the redistribution of fees simple. 

 
Under the Act’s condemnation scheme, tenants living on single‑family residential lots within developmental tracts at least five acres in size are entitled to ask the Hawaii Housing Authority (HHA) to condemn the property on which they live. When 25 eligible tenants,1 or tenants on half the lots in the tract, whichever is less, file appropriate applications, the Act authorizes HHA to hold a public hearing to determine whether acquisition by the State of all or part of the tract will “effectuate the public purposes” of the Act. If HHA finds that these public purposes will be served, it is authorized to designate some or all of the lots in the tract for acquisition. It then acquires, at prices set either by condemnation trial or by negotiation between lessors and lessees,2 the former fee owners’ full “right, title, and interest” in the land. 

 
After compensation has been set, HHA may sell the land titles to tenants who have applied for fee simple ownership. HHA is authorized to lend these tenants up to 90% of the purchase price, and it may condition final transfer on a right of first refusal for the first 10 years following sale.  If HHA does not sell the lot to the tenant residing there, it may lease the lot or sell it to someone else, provided that public notice has been given. However, HHA may not sell to any one purchaser, or lease to any one tenant, more than one lot, and it may not operate for profit.  In practice, funds to satisfy the condemnation awards have been supplied entirely by lessees. … 


B.  In April 1977, HHA held a public hearing concerning the proposed acquisition of some of appellees’ lands. HHA made the statutorily required finding that acquisition of appellees’ lands would effectuate the public purposes of the Act. [Subsequently,] appellees filed suit, … asking that the Act be declared unconstitutional….  The District Court … [held] the [relevant] portion of the Act constitutional under the Public Use Clause. … 

 
The Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit reversed. … It found that the transfers contemplated by the Act were unlike those of takings previously held to constitute “public uses” by this Court [and] concluded that the Act was simply “a naked attempt on the part of the state of Hawaii to take the private property of A and transfer it to B solely for B’s private use and benefit.” … [T]his Court noted probable jurisdiction. We now reverse. …

III.  A.  The starting point for our analysis of the Act’s constitutionality is the Court’s decision in Berman v. Parker, 348 U.S. 26 (1954). In Berman, the Court held constitutional [a federal statute that] provided both for the comprehensive use of the eminent domain power to redevelop slum areas and for the possible sale or lease of the condemned lands to private interests. In discussing whether the takings authorized by that Act were for a “public use,” the Court stated:

We deal … with what traditionally has been known as the police power. An attempt to define its reach or trace its outer limits is fruitless, for each case must turn on its own facts. The definition is essentially the product of legislative determinations addressed to the purposes of government, purposes neither abstractly nor historically capable of complete definition. Subject to specific constitutional limitations, when the legislature has spoken, the public interest has been declared in terms well‑nigh conclusive. In such cases the legislature, not the judiciary, is the main guardian of the public needs to be served by social legislation, whether it be Congress legislating concerning the District of Columbia ... or the States legislating concerning local affairs.... This principle admits of no exception merely because the power of eminent domain is involved.... 

The Court explicitly recognized the breadth of the principle it was announcing, noting:

Once the object is within the authority of Congress, the right to realize it through the exercise of eminent domain is clear. For the power of eminent domain is merely the means to the end.... Once the object is within the authority of Congress, the means by which it will be attained is also for Congress to determine. Here one of the means chosen is the use of private enterprise for redevelopment of the area. Appellants argue that this makes the project a taking from one businessman for the benefit of another businessman. But the means of executing the project are for Congress and Congress alone to determine, once the public purpose has been established. 

The “public use” requirement is thus coterminous with the scope of a sovereign’s police powers.

 

There is, of course, a role for courts to play in reviewing a legislature’s judgment of what constitutes a public use, even when the eminent domain power is equated with the police power.  But the Court in Berman made clear that it is “an extremely narrow” one. … The Berman Court also cited to U.S. ex rel. TVA v. Welch, 327 U.S. 546, 552 (1946), which emphasized that 

[a]ny departure from this judicial restraint would result in courts deciding on what is and is not a governmental function and in their invalidating legislation on the basis of their view on that question at the moment of decision, a practice which has proved impracticable in other fields. 

In short, the Court has made clear that it will not substitute its judgment for a legislature’s judgment as to what constitutes a public use “unless the use be palpably without reasonable foundation.” U.S. v. Gettysburg Electric R. Co., 160 U.S. 668, 680 (1896).

 

To be sure, the Court’s cases have repeatedly stated that “one person’s property may not be taken for the benefit of another private person without a justifying public purpose, even though compensation be paid.” Thompson v. Consolidated Gas Corp., 300 U.S. 55, 80 (1937). … But where the exercise of the eminent domain power is rationally related to a conceivable public purpose, the Court has never held a compensated taking to be proscribed by the Public Use Clause. 



On this basis, we have no trouble concluding that the Hawaii Act is constitutional. The people of Hawaii have attempted, much as the settlers of the original 13 Colonies did,5 to reduce the perceived social and economic evils of a land oligopoly traceable to their monarchs. The land oligopoly has, according to the Hawaii Legislature, created artificial deterrents to the normal functioning of the State’s residential land market and forced thousands of individual homeowners to lease, rather than buy, the land underneath their homes. Regulating oligopoly and the evils associated with it is a classic exercise of a State’s police powers. We cannot disapprove of Hawaii’s exercise of this power.

 
Nor can we condemn as irrational the Act’s approach to correcting the land oligopoly problem. The Act presumes that when a sufficiently large number of persons declare that they are willing but unable to buy lots at fair prices the land market is malfunctioning. When such a malfunction is signalled, the Act authorizes HHA to condemn lots in the relevant tract. The Act limits the number of lots any one tenant can purchase and authorizes HHA to use public funds to ensure that the market dilution goals will be achieved. This is a comprehensive and rational approach to identifying and correcting market failure.


Of course, this Act, like any other, may not be successful in achieving its intended goals. But “whether in fact the provision will accomplish its objectives is not the question: the [constitutional requirement] is satisfied if ... the ... [state] Legislature rationally could have believed that the [Act] would promote its objective.” Western & Southern Life Ins. Co. v. State Bd. of Equalization, 451 U.S. 648, 671‑672 (1981). When the legislature’s purpose is legitimate and its means are not irrational, our cases make clear that empirical debates over the wisdom of takings—no less than debates over the wisdom of other kinds of socioeconomic legislation—are not to be carried out in the federal courts. Redistribution of fees simple to correct deficiencies in the market determined by the state legislature to be attributable to land oligopoly is a rational exercise of the eminent domain power. Therefore, the Hawaii statute must pass the scrutiny of the Public Use Clause. 

    
B.  The Court of Appeals read our cases to stand for a much narrower proposition. First, it read our “public use” cases, especially Berman, as requiring that government possess and use property at some point during a taking. Since Hawaiian lessees retain possession of the property for private use throughout the condemnation process, the court found that the Act exacted takings for private use. Second, it determined that these cases involved only “the review of ... congressional determination[s] that there was a public use, not the review of ... state legislative determination[s].” Because state legislative determinations are involved in the instant cases, the Court of Appeals decided that more rigorous judicial scrutiny of the public use determinations was appropriate. The court concluded that the Hawaii Legislature’s professed purposes were mere “statutory rationalizations.”  We disagree….


The mere fact that property taken outright by eminent domain is transferred in the first instance to private beneficiaries does not condemn that taking as having only a private purpose. The Court long ago rejected any literal requirement that condemned property be put into use for the general public. “It is not essential that the entire community, nor even any considerable portion, ... directly enjoy or participate in any improvement in order [for it] to constitute a public use.” Rindge Co. v. Los Angeles, [262 U.S. 700, 707 (1923)]. … As the unique way titles were held in Hawaii skewed the land market, exercise of the power of eminent domain was justified. The Act advances its purposes without the State’s taking actual possession of the land. In such cases, government does not itself have to use property to legitimate the taking; it is only the taking’s purpose, and not its mechanics, that must pass scrutiny under the Public Use Clause.


Similarly, the fact that a state legislature, and not the Congress, made the public use determination does not mean that judicial deference is less appropriate.7 Judicial deference is required because, in our system of government, legislatures are better able to assess what public purposes should be advanced by an exercise of the taking power. State legislatures are as capable as Congress of making such determinations within their respective spheres of authority.  Thus, if a legislature, state or federal, determines there are substantial reasons for an exercise of the taking power, courts must defer to its determination that the taking will serve a public use.

IV.
The State of Hawaii has never denied that the Constitution forbids even a compensated taking of property when executed for no reason other than to confer a private benefit on a particular private party. A purely private taking could not withstand the scrutiny of the public use requirement; it would serve no legitimate purpose of government and would thus be void. But no purely private taking is involved in these cases. The Hawaii Legislature enacted its Land Reform Act not to benefit a particular class of identifiable individuals but to attack certain perceived evils of concentrated property ownership in Hawaii—a legitimate public purpose. Use of the condemnation power to achieve this purpose is not irrational. Since we assume for purposes of these appeals that the weighty demand of just compensation has been met, the requirements of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments have been satisfied. Accordingly, we reverse the judgment of the Court of Appeals, and remand these cases for further proceedings in conformity with this opinion.  
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DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

75.  What is the State of Hawaii trying to accomplish with the program at issue in Midkiff?  Try to make arguments both for and against the proposition that the program is a public use.  Does the program seem to fit within the purposes of the Eminent Domain power?

76.  The Supreme Court makes clear in Midkiff that it does not see its job as determining whether the state’s program is the best (or even a particularly good) way to achieve its goals.  Why shouldn’t the Supreme Court strike down a state exercise of Eminent Domain that is unlikely to achieve its stated ends? 
77.  Note the reference to the reordering of property rights after the American Revolution in footnote 5 (S84) Assuming that Justice O’Connor got the information in the footnote from the lawyers for the state of Hawaii, why do you suppose those attorneys used valuable space in their briefs to give the Court a history lesson?
78.  Midkiff says that a government’s exercise of the Eminent Domain power will not violate the Public Use requirement if it is “rationally related to a conceivable state purpose.”   Apply this “rational basis” test to the facts of Kelo.
79.  The Supreme Court majority says in Kelo that it will give legislatures “broad latitude in determining what public needs justify the use of the takings power.” (P184)  What arguments do you see that support this kind of deference to the legislature?  What are the dangers of this approach?

80.  What limits does the majority suggest there might be to its deferential approach to public use?  What limits does Justice Kennedy suggest in his concurrence?  

81.  Justice O’Connor wrote the majority opinion in Midkiff.  How does she distinguish that case in her dissent in Kelo?  Is that distinction convincing?

82.  What approach to public use does Justice Thomas advocate in his dissent? What are the strengths and weaknesses of that approach?  Why does he believe that the interests of poorer citizens and people of color are particularly threatened by the majority’s approach?  Is this concern convincing?

83.  Keeping in mind that the states are free to put more limits on their own powers, how should the U.S. Supreme Court define public use for the purposes of the Federal Constitution?
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Poletown Neighborhood Council v. City of Detroit

304 N.W.2d 455 (Mich. 1981)

Ryan J., Dissenting: [Facts Only] The controversy arises in the context of economic crisis. … Unemployment in the state of Michigan is at 14.2%.  In the City of Detroit it is at 18%, and among black citizens it is almost 30%.  The high cost of doing business in Michigan generally has driven many manufacturers out of this state and to the so‑called sunbelt states on a continuing basis during the past several years. Nowhere is the exodus more steady or more damaging than from the Metropolitan Detroit area. … [T]he Chrysler Corporation, headquartered in Detroit, is “on the ropes” … [and] the Ford Motor Company, the American Motors Corporation and the General Motors Corporation have all, within days, reported for the previous year the largest financial losses in their histories.  … [O]verseas automobile manufacturing competition … is largely accountable for domestic automobile industry losses.  To meet that competition, domestic manufacturers are finding it necessary to construct new manufacturing facilities in order to build redesigned, lighter and more economical cars.  That means new factories and new factory locations. …

 
It was in this economic context, fueled with talk of removal of its long‑established … manufacturing operations from the Detroit area and the construction of a new 3‑million‑ square‑foot plant in a sunbelt state, that in 1980 General Motors made its first overture to the City of Detroit about finding a suitable plant site in the city. … [T]he removal by General Motors of its Cadillac manufacturing operations to a more favorable economic climate would mean the loss to Detroit of at least 6,000 jobs as well as the concomitant loss of literally thousands of allied and supporting automotive design, manufacture and sales functions.  There would necessarily follow, as a result, the loss of millions of dollars in real estate and income tax revenues.  The darkening picture was made even bleaker by the … city's continuing loss of its industrial base and the decline of its population. …

 
Thus it was to a city with its economic back to the wall that General Motors presented its highly detailed “proposal” for construction of a new plant in a "green field" location in the City of Detroit.  … The corporation told the city that it must find or assemble a parcel 450 to 500 acres in size with access to long‑haul railroad lines and a freeway system with railroad marshalling yards within the plant site.  … Unquestionably cognizant of its immense political and economic power, General Motors also insisted that it must receive title to the assembled parcel by May 1, 1981.

 
In a most impressive demonstration of governmental efficiency, the City of Detroit set about its task of meeting General Motors' specifications.  Nine possible sites were identified and suggested to General Motors.  Only one was found adequate: a parcel consisting of 465 acres … that has come to be known as Central Industrial Park (CIP).

 
In July, 1980, the general outlines of the proposal to condemn property to meet General Motors' demands were submitted to the Detroit Common Council, which promptly approved the boundaries of CIP.  The city had already begun to purchase property in contemplation of CIP's establishment. … On September 30, 1980, the completed project plan was approved by the Detroit Economic Development Corporation.  Two weeks later a public hearing was held on the then proposed CIP and the next day, October 15, 1980, the Environmental Impact Statement was issued.  On October 29, 1980 the Detroit Community and Economic Development Department … sent a letter to the Detroit Common Council recommending that the council approve the project plan with suggested amendments…. Two days later, the council followed the recommendation, passed a resolution approving the project plan with minor modifications, and declared in the resolution “that said project constitutes a public purpose” and “is hereby determined to be for the use and benefit of the public”.  On November 3, 1980 the mayor of the City of Detroit signed the resolution.
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DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

84.  Apply the “rational basis” test from Midkiff to the facts of Poletown.  Would the facts of Poletown constitute a public use under the reasoning of the Kelo majority?  Under the reasoning of Justice Kennedy’s concurrence?

85.  The Poletown majority found the actions of the City of Detroit to be a public use, repeatedly making two points that could be viewed as legal tests:

(a) The public was the ‘primary beneficiary” of the use of Eminent Domain and the private benefit to GM was merely “incidental;” and

(b) The public benefit was “clear and significant.”

Apply these two formulations to the facts of Kelo.  

86.  In overruling Poletown in Hatchcock, the Michigan Supreme Court articulates three “situations” in which property acquired through Eminent Domain can legitimately end up in private hands.  What is the justification for each situation?  Do the facts in Kelo fit into one or more of these situations?

87.  Explain the approach suggested by Professor Merrill described in note 5 (P196).  How would Kelo and Poletown be resolved under that approach? What are the strengths and weakness of that approach as compared to the others used in Kelo and in the Michigan cases?
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Review Problems 4A-4D
(4A) The Texas legislature determines that the Texan virtues of Courage, Forthrightness and Moral Strength are disappearing, harming the welfare of the people of Texas.  It creates the Virtuous Texan Commission, which is empowered to choose three Texans each year who best embody the Texan Virtues.  The chosen Texans will be authorized to select private property in the state worth up to $500,000, which the state will purchase for them at market value.  Do these purchases violate the Public Use requirement?

(4B) The Species Conservatory is a non-profit corporation that purchases land containing endangered species habitats and preserves the land in its natural state.  The public is not allowed access to these lands.  Only employees of the corporation may enter.  The state of Ecotopia wishes to use its Eminent Domain power to purchase several acres of land that constitutes a small part of the habitat of the endan​gered Mottled Moth and resell the land at market value to the Conservatory.  Would this purchase vi​olate the Public Use requirement?

(4C) Discuss whether the following proposed use of Eminent Domain violates the Public Use Clause of the federal constitution: The City of Browder was developing a new art museum on a large waterfront parcel it had owned for a long time. Directly inland from the museum site was Old Grantham, a slightly rundown neighborhood containing some warehouses, some shabby but fully-occupied apartment complexes, and a few small businesses, including a pawnshop and an adult bookstore. 

Dena is a developer famous for creating very successful urban mixed-use projects containing residences, offices, stores and restaurants.  Dena approached the Browder City Council with a proposal to develop a 24-square block section of Old Grantham into a mixed-use project similar to others she had built.  The City Council, thrilled to have improvements to the area adjoining the new museum, agreed to use its Eminent Domain power to purchase the land in question and then to resell it at market value to Dena, contingent on her building the proposed project.  

(4D) Santa Elisa is a sprawling city of 800,000 people. The city was losing revenue because many consumers who once shopped regularly at older shopping centers within the city limits were now primarily shopping at newer suburban malls.  

In response, the city set up a program called “Taking Action For Urban Revival & Improvement” (TAFURI).  Pursuant to TAFURI, developers submit plans to the city for the creation of new shopping/ residential complexes on the sites of the older shopping centers.  If the city council approves one of these plans, the city uses its eminent domain power to purchase the necessary land.  It then leases the land to the developer for a negotiated flat annual rental fee.  Thus, under TAFURI, the risk that the new complexes are unprofitable falls on the developers.  However, if the complexes are very successful, the developers can reap great profits. 

Under TAFURI, the city council approved a plan to purchase and replace the Ocean Crystal Shopping Center (OCSC), which had lost many of its customers when a new freeway rerouted traffic off the nearby streets. The owners of OCSC claim that the city’s use of Eminent Domain to purchase their property violates the Public Use Clause of the state constitution. Assume that the state in question follows the majority opinion in Poletown.  

(i) Identify facts in the problem that are different from those in Poletown and be prepared to argue whether those facts should affect the outcome.

(ii) Apply the legal standards from Poletown to the problem.
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Unit III:   After You’re Gone

Transfer of Property at Death and Post-Transfer Control  
Chapter 5.  Wills & Intestate Succession

INTESTATE SUCCESSION:  OVERVIEW

I.
When a person dies, any property she possesses that is not distributed by a valid will, passes to her heirs through the intestacy process.  Thus, property passes by intestacy in two situations:


(1) If a “decedent” (the person who died) leaves no valid will, all her property passes through intestacy;


(2) If she leaves a valid will, but the will does not dispose of all her property, the property not disposed of by the will passes through intestacy.

II.
Every American state has a statute describing who gets property that passes through intestacy.  The rules vary greatly from state to state.  The general form they take is as follows:


A.
A surviving spouse usually will receive all property if the decedent leaves no lineal descendants and no living parents.  If there are lineal descendants (and in some jurisdictions if there are living parents) the spouse will receive either a fixed percentage of the estate, usually 1/2 or 1/3, or some money off the top, then a fixed percentage of the rest.  For example, in Florida, if you die survived by a spouse and 3 children by that spouse, the spouse will receive $20,000 plus 1/2 of the rest of the intestate property.  Florida, like many other states, gives the spouse less if the surviving lineal descendants are not also descendants of the surviving spouse (e.g., the decedent’s children from a prior marriage).  The idea seems to be that a step-parent may be less likely to care for someone else's children then his/her own.


B.
The property that does not go to the spouse (or all the property if there is no spouse) usually goes to the lineal descendants next, although some states split the property between the decedent's parents and the lineal descendants.


C.
Every state statute lists the relatives who will take if there are no lineal descendants, and no spouse.  Usually, parents and their descendants (i.e., siblings, nephews, nieces, etc.) take first, then grandparents and their descendants, and so on.  Often, as in Florida, property will be divided 1/2 to the decedent's mother's family and 1/2 to the decedent's father's family.  Some states allow any blood relative to take, no matter how far removed.  Others cut off the heirs at some point.  For example, Florida limits recovery to relatives no further removed than descendants of grandparents.  


D.
If no relative can be found that meets the legal definition of "heir", the property will pass to the state through the process called “escheat.”


E.
Every state has a number of definitional and limiting provisions.  Usually they explain, for example, the treatment of adopted and illegitimate children and relatives of half-blood, and state that murderers cannot receive property from the estate of the person they murdered.  


F.
Every state statute contains directions for dividing property between a number of relatives of the same type (e.g., nephews and nieces, or first cousins) who all take together.  Part of your task in Asignment III will be to figure out how this works in your state and to explain it in terms a lay person can understand.  

III.
Keep in mind that if you don't like the way the intestacy statutes divide up your property, you can always write a will.
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FLORIDA STATUTES: INTESTATE SUCCESSION
732.101. Intestate estate.

(1) Any part of the estate of a decedent not effectively disposed of by will passes to the decedent's heirs as prescribed in the following sections of this code.

(2) The decedent's death is the event that vests the heirs' right to intestate property.

732.102. Share of spouse.

(1) The intestate share of the surviving spouse is:

(a) If there is no surviving lineal descendant of the decedent, the entire intestate estate.

(b) If there are surviving lineal descendants of the decedent, all of whom are lineal descendants of the surviving spouse also, the first $20,000 of the intestate estate, plus one‑half of the balance of the intestate estate. Property allocated hereunder to the surviving spouse to satisfy the $20,000 shall be valued at the fair market value on the date of the decedent's death.

(c) If there are surviving lineal descendants, one or more of whom are not lineal descendants of the surviving spouse, one‑half of the intestate estate. ...

732.103. Share of other heirs.  The part of the intestate estate not passing to the surviving spouse under §732.102, or the entire intestate estate if there is no surviving spouse, descends as follows:

(1) To the lineal descendants of the decedent.

(2) If there is no lineal descendant, to the decedent's father and mother equally, or to the survivor of them.

(3) If there is none of the foregoing, to the decedent's brothers and sisters and the descendants of deceased brothers and sisters.

(4) If there is none of the foregoing, the estate shall be divided, one‑half of which shall go to the decedent's paternal, and the other half to the decedent's maternal, kindred in the following order:

(a) To the grandfather and grandmother equally, or to the survivor of them.

(b) If there is no grandfather or grandmother, to uncles and aunts and descendants of deceased uncles and aunts of the decedent.

(c) If there is no paternal kindred or if there is no maternal kindred, the estate shall go to such of the kindred as shall survive in the order aforesaid.

(5) If there is no kindred of either part, the whole of such property shall go to the kindred of the last deceased spouse of the decedent as if the deceased spouse had survived the decedent and then died intestate entitled to the estate.

732.104. Inheritance per stirpes.  
Descent shall be per stirpes, whether to lineal descendants or to collateral heirs.

732.105. Half blood.  When property descends to the collateral kindred of the intestate and part of the collateral kindred are of the whole blood to the intestate and the other part of the half blood, those of the half blood shall inherit only half as much as those of the whole blood;  but if all are of the half blood they shall have whole parts.

732.106. Afterborn heirs.  Heirs of the decedent conceived before his or her death, but born thereafter, inherit intestate property as if they had been born in the decedent's lifetime.

732.107. Escheat.

(1) When a person leaving an estate dies without being survived by any person entitled to it, the property shall escheat to the state.

(2)(a) In this event, or when doubt exists about the existence of any person entitled to the estate, the personal representative shall institute a proceeding for the determination of beneficiaries, as provided in this code ... 

(3) If the court determines that there is no person entitled to the estate and that the estate escheats, the property shall be sold and the proceeds paid to the Treasurer of the state and deposited by him or her in the State School Fund within a reasonable time to be fixed by the court. ...

732.108. Adopted persons and persons born out of wedlock.

(1) For the purpose of intestate succession by or from an adopted person, the adopted person is a lineal descendant of the adopting parent and is one of the natural kindred of all members of the adopting parent's family, and is not a lineal descendant of his or her natural parents, nor is he or she one of the kindred of any member of the natural parent's family or any prior adoptive parent's family, except that:

(a) Adoption of a child by the spouse of a natural parent has no effect on the relationship between the child and the natural parent or the natural parent's family.

(b) Adoption of a child by a natural parent's spouse who married the natural parent after the death of the other natural parent has no effect on the relationship between the child and the family of the deceased natural parent.

(c) Adoption of a child by a close relative, as defined in §63.172(2), has no effect on the relationship between the child and the families of the deceased natural parents.

(2) For the purpose of intestate succession in cases not covered by subsection (1), a person born out of wedlock is a lineal descendant of his or her mother and is one of the natural kindred of all members of the mother's family.  The person is also a lineal descendant of his or her father and is one of the natural kindred of all members of the father's family, if:

(a) The natural parents participated in a marriage ceremony before or after the birth of the person born out of wedlock, even though the attempted marriage is void.

(b) The paternity of the father is established by an adjudication before or after the death of the father.

(c) The paternity of the father is acknowledged in writing by the father.

732.1101. Aliens.  No person is disqualified to take as an heir because he or she, or a person through whom he or she claims, is, or has been, an alien.
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WILLS:  OVERVIEW OF SELECTED ISSUES 
I.
For our purposes, I would like you to be aware that


A.
You need certain formalities to make a will valid


B.
A will can be invalid if either 



1.
the person writing the will-- the "testator"--is under age or incompetent OR



2.
fraud, duress or undue influence affects the creation of the will.  


C.
There are substantive limits on your power to make a will.

II.
Formalities: statutes describe requirements in every jurisdiction and the requirements vary a lot:  look at carefully before attempting to create a will.


A.
Signature



1.  Testator must sign will or (in some states including California) someone else may sign for him in his presence at his direction



2.  Some jurisdictions (including Florida) signature must appear at the end of the will.  If not, may invalidate whole will, or just portion after signature, depending on jurisdiction.



3.  Testator must sign before the witnesses do



4.  Testator must intend the document be his/her will.  This is called "testamentary intent."


B.
Witnesses



1.  How many?






a.  2 in most states including Florida & California






b.  3 in some






c.  good practice to use 3 so will is valid anywhere



2.   Who can be a witness?






a.
usually: if would be competent to be a witness in court, ok






b.
some states: minimum age (18 or 21)






c.
interested witness

i) definition: a witness who receives property under the terms of the will







ii) consequences:








A) Most states invalidate gifts to interested witnesses








B) Some (including Calif.): interested witness can take if enough other witnesses are uninterested (e.g., state requires 2 witnesses, will actually had 3, including one interested.  Since 3d witness superfluous, can take gift) 








C) Some states: if interested witness would receive more property through intestacy if the will was invalid, will allow him/her to take gift.  (E.g., son is testator's only heir.  Under will, will take 1/2.  OK to be witness, since better off if will declared invalid.)








D) California rule:  presumption of fraud, duress or undue influence by interested witness








E) Florida: irrelevant; interested witness takes like any other beneficiary



3.  What Must Witnesses Do?






a.
watch testator sign will







i) Some states including Florida & Calif.: ok if testator acknowledges that the signature is his.  Watch this rule carefully; the statutes vary.  







ii) Some states testator has to say "This is my will."  







iii) Some states testator has to say "This is my signature." 







iv) Florida: Testator must convey to witnesses the idea that he is acknowledging signature to his will.






b.
sign the will as a witness







i) Most states must sign in presence of testator (including Florida)







ii) complex caselaw re meaning of  "in presence of"







iii) Generally must sign within reasonable time of observing testator sign/acknowledge the will






c.
Some jurisdictions, including Florida & Calif., witnesses must be together when they see the testator sign or acknowledge and when they sign.  In some states, witnesses can witness separately.


C. Changes to a will



1.
generally require all the formalities of the original will



2.
revoking the will just requires destroying the physical document (burning, ripping, crossing out) with intent to revoke.  You also can revoke by executing a subsequent inconsistent will with proper formalities.

 
D. Handwritten ("Holographic") Wills:  some states (including Calif., but not Fla.) will treat a will as valid without witnesses if it is in the testator's handwriting.  The idea is that the chances of forgery are less.  The requirements vary depending on the statutes:



1.  some states all of will must be in testator's handwriting; some states (like Calif.), just material provisions



2.  some states, the will must be dated.  In Calif., must be dated if date is needed to establish competence or priority with regards to another will.



3.  Lots of specific caselaw about showing testamentary intent.  Sometimes difficult to tell because just a sentiment expressed in a letter.  For example, one state held the phrase "I would like M to have all my personal effects" to be insufficient indication of intent to make a will.

III.
Competency and Capacity of Testator


A.
Age: some states must be 18 or 21 (chronological, not mental capacity) 



(Fla. & Cal.: 18)


B.
must be of sound mind



1.   many cases define as able to understand:






a.
nature & extent of your property;






b.
natural objects of your bounty (in other words, the people to whom society would expect you to give your property: spouse, children, family); AND






c.
disposition you are making of your property: what you actually are doing with it)



2.  Calif. statute §6100.5 (a) (1) is a version of this test, but (a) (2) allows proof of incompetence by focusing on a particular illness.



3.  measure mental capacity at moment will is executed






a.
OK if often insane, but execute will during "lucid" interval






b. 
note: if sound mind, can make unreasonable disposition of property



4. if under insane delusion: invalid






a.
false belief without reasonable foundation






b.
E.g., "Since Edward has become a gerbil, he no longer needs my money, so I leave it to the Red Cross"






c.
will has to be product of delusion to be invalidated 








(see Calif.§6100.5(a)(2))

IV.
Fraud, Duress, Undue Influence Invalidate a Will


A.
Fraud:  each state will define specifically, but involves cases where, e.g., blind testator is told he is signing a will that leaves property to Cordelia when in fact it leaves property to Goneril and Regan.


B.
Duress: coercion.  Again, check local caselaw.  Involves cases where, e.g., testator signs will with gun to his head.


C.
Undue influence



1.  domination of testator's mind by another. Florida definition:






a.
"fear, overpersuasion, duress, force or coercion to the extent of destroying the free agency and will power of the testator and must be operative on the mind of the testator at the time the will is executed."  






b.
BUT "influence, consisting of appeals, requests, entreaties, arguments, flattery, cajolery, persuasion, solicitations or even importunity, is legitimate" as long as doesn't destroy free agency of testator.



2.  Must be by a beneficiary or on a beneficiary's behalf



3.  confidential relationship (e.g., doctors, lawyers, clergy) yields presumption of undue influence where the person involved both participated in the preparation of the will and is a substantial beneficiary 

V.
Limits on ability to leave property through will


A.
Spousal share:  most jurisdictions (not Calif.) have provisions that a surviving spouse may elect to take a certain minimum amount of the estate (in Florida, it is the spouse's intestate share) in lieu of taking under the will.  Thus, you generally cannot disinherit your spouse completely.


B.
Homestead and Related Provisions:  Most states have statutes that provide that where a decedent is survived by spouse and lineal descendants, (or sometimes just if there are minor children) the family home, furniture and car, and sometimes some money for necessary expenses must stay in the family for some period of time, sometimes until the children reach adulthood.  



1.  In Florida, the spouse receives a life interest in the homestead, and the descendants take it after the spouse's death.  



2.  In California, court has discretion to award homestead for any length up to spouse’s life or end of children’s minority.


C.
Pretermitted (left out) Spouse or Child Provisions



1.  Statutes may provide that where a spouse or child is not mentioned at all in the will, they receive their intestate share, basically on the theory that they have been forgotten.  If they are mentioned, but explicitly disinherited, the statutes generally do not apply.



2.  These statutes only apply to spouses married after the will was executed, and usually only to children born after the will was executed



3.  Florida and other states do not give shares to pretermitted children if the child's other parent gets the bulk of the estate, under the assumption that the other parent will later take care of the child.



4.
California repealed these in 1997.


D.
Divorce provisions: generally a divorce will revoke all portions of a will related to the ex-spouse.  If you still want to leave property to an ex-spouse: draft a new will.
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SELECTED FLORIDA LAW RELATING TO WILLS

FLORIDA CONSTITUTION  ARTICLE X
§4. Homestead;  Exemptions

(a) There shall be exempt from forced sale under process of any court, and no judgment, decree or execution shall be a lien thereon, except for the payment of taxes and assessments thereon, obligations contracted for the purchase, improvement or repair thereof, or obligations contracted for house, field or other labor performed on the realty, the following property owned by a natural person:

  

(1) a HOMESTEAD, if located outside a municipality, to the extent of one hundred sixty acres of contiguous land and improvements thereon, which shall not be reduced without the owner's consent by reason of subsequent inclusion in a municipality;  or if located within a municipality, to the extent of one-half acre of contiguous land, upon which the exemption shall be limited to the residence of the owner or his family;

  

(2) personal property to the value of one thousand dollars.


(b) These EXEMPTIONS shall inure to the surviving spouse or heirs of the owner.


(c) The HOMESTEAD shall not be subject to devise if the owner is survived by spouse or minor child, except the HOMESTEAD may be devised to the owner's spouse if there be no minor child. The owner of HOMESTEAD real estate, joined by the spouse if married, may alienate the HOMESTEAD by mortgage, sale or gift and, if married, may by deed transfer the title to an estate by the entirety with the spouse.  If the owner or spouse is incompetent, the method of alienation or encumbrance shall be as provided by law.
FLORIDA STATUTES
732.201. Right to elective share.  The surviving spouse of a person who dies domiciled in Florida shall have the right to a share of the estate of the deceased spouse as provided in this part, to be designated the elective share.

732.205. Elective share;  restricted to Florida resident decedent.  No elective share in Florida property of a decedent not domiciled in Florida shall exist.

732.206. Property entering into computation.  The elective share shall be computed by taking into account all property of the decedent wherever located that is subject to administration except real property not located in Florida.

732.207. Amount of the elective share.  The elective share shall consist of an amount equal to 30 percent of the fair market value, on the date of death, of all assets referred to in §732.206, computed after deducting from the total value of the assets:


(1) All valid claims against the estate paid or payable from the estate;  and


(2) All mortgages, liens, or security interests on the assets.

732.301. Pretermitted spouse.  When a person marries after making a will and the spouse survives the testator, the surviving spouse shall receive a share in the estate of the testator equal in value to that which the surviving spouse would have received if the testator had died intestate, unless:


(1) Provision has been made for, or waived by, the spouse by prenuptial or postnuptial agreement;


(2) The spouse is provided for in the will;  or


(3) The will discloses an intention not to make provision for the spouse. ...

732.302. Pretermitted children.  When a testator omits to provide in his or her will for any of his or her children born or adopted after making the will and the child has not received a part of the testator's property equivalent to a child's part by way of advancement, the child shall receive a share of the estate equal in value to that he or she would have received if the testator had died intestate, unless:


(1) It appears from the will that the omission was intentional;  or

(2) The testator had one or more children when the will was executed and devised substantially all the estate to the other parent of the pretermitted child. ...

732.4015. Devise of homestead.  

(1) As provided by the Florida Constitution, the homestead shall not be subject to devise if the owner is survived by a spouse or minor child, except that the homestead may be devised to the owner's spouse if there is no minor child. ...

732.402. Exempt property.  

(1) If a decedent was domiciled in this state at the time of death, the surviving spouse, or, if there is no surviving spouse, the children of the decedent shall have the right to a share of the estate of the decedent as provided in this section, to be designated "exempt property."

(2) Exempt property shall consist of:

(a) Household furniture, furnishings, and appliances in the decedent's usual place of abode up to a net value of $10,000 as of the date of death;  and

(b) All automobiles held in the decedent's name and regularly used by the decedent or members of the decedent's immediate family as their personal automobiles.

(3) Exempt property shall be exempt from all claims against the estate except perfected security interests thereon.

(4) Exempt property shall be in addition to any property passing to the surviving spouse or heirs of the decedent under §4, Art. X of the State Constitution or the decedent's will, or by intestate succession, elective share, or family allowance.

(5) Property specifically or demonstratively devised by the decedent's will to any devisee shall not be included in exempt property.  ...

732.403. Family allowance.  In addition to homestead and exempt property, if the decedent was domiciled in Florida at the time of death, the surviving spouse and the decedent's lineal heirs whom the decedent was obligated to support or who were in fact being supported by him or her are entitled to a reasonable allowance in money out of the estate for their maintenance during administration.  After notice and hearing, the court may order this allowance to be paid as a lump sum or in periodic installments.  The allowance shall not exceed a total of $6,000. It shall be paid to the surviving spouse, if living, for the use of the spouse and dependent lineal heirs.  If the surviving spouse is not living, it shall be paid to the lineal heirs or to the persons having their care and custody.  If any lineal heir is not living with the surviving spouse, the allowance may be made partly to the lineal heir or his or her guardian or other person having the lineal heir's care and custody and partly to the surviving spouse, as the needs of the dependent lineal heir and the surviving spouse appear. ... The family allowance is not chargeable against any benefit or share passing to the surviving spouse or to the dependent lineal heirs by intestate succession, elective share, or the will of the decedent, unless the will otherwise provides.  The death of any person entitled to a family allowance terminates his or her right to the part of the allowance not paid.  For purposes of this section, the term "lineal heir" or "lineal heirs" means lineal ascendants and lineal descendants of the decedent.

732.501. Who may make a will.  Any person 18 or more years of age who is of sound mind may make a will.

732.502. Execution of wills.  Every will must be in writing and executed as follows:


(1)
(a) Testator's signature.‑‑

1. The testator must sign the will at the end;  or

2. The testator's name must be subscribed at the end of the will by some other person in the testator's presence and by his or her direction.



(b) Witnesses.‑‑The testator's:

1. Signing, or

2. Acknowledgment:





a. That he or she has previously signed the will, or





b. That another person has sub-scribed the testator's name to it,




must be in the presence of at least two attesting witnesses.

(c) Witnesses' signatures.‑‑The attesting witnesses must sign the will in the presence of the testator and in the presence of each other.

(2) Any will, other than a holographic or nuncupative will, executed by a nonresident of Florida, either before or after this law takes effect, is valid as a will in this state if valid under the laws of the state or country where the testator was at the time of execution.  A will in the testator's handwriting that has been executed in accordance with subsection (1) shall not be considered a holographic will.

(3) No particular form of words is necessary to the validity of a will if it is executed with the formalities required by law.

(4) A codicil shall be executed with the same formalities as a will.

732.504. Who may witness.  
(1) Any person competent to be a witness may act as a witness to a will.

(2) A will or codicil, or any part of either, is not invalid because the will or codicil is signed by an interested witness.

732.507. Effect of subsequent marriage, birth, or dissolution of marriage.

(1) Neither subsequent marriage nor subsequent marriage and birth or adoption of lineal descendants shall revoke the prior will of any person, but the pretermitted child or spouse shall inherit as set forth in §§732.301 and 732.302, regardless of the prior will.

(2) Any provisions of a will executed by a married person, which provision affects the spouse of that person, shall become void upon the divorce of that person or upon the dissolution or annulment of the marriage. After the dissolution, divorce, or annulment, any such will shall be administered and construed as if the former spouse had died at the time of the dissolution, divorce, or annulment of the marriage, unless the will or the dissolution or divorce judgment expressly provides otherwise.

732.5165. Effect of fraud, duress, mistake, and undue influence.  A will is void if the execution is procured by fraud, duress, mistake, or undue influence.  Any part of the will is void if so procured, but the remainder of the will not so procured shall be valid if it is not invalid for other reasons.
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In re Estate of James W. WEISS

444 Pa. 126,  279 A.2d 189 (1971)


BELL, Chief Justice.  James W. Weiss died on May 29, 1970, at the age of 62.  On August 10, 1970, Joan A. Kemp presented a petition for the probate of decedent’s (alleged) will to the Register of Wills of Berks County, who refused probate.  Joan A. Kemp thereupon took an appeal to the Orphans’ Court (Division), which entered an Order sustaining the action of the Register.  After her exceptions to the Order were dismissed, Joan A. Kemp took the present appeal.  The issue in the case is a very narrow one: was the purported will of James W. Weiss signed ‘at the end thereof,’ as required by Section 2 of the Wills Act of 1947.


The purported will was written on a printed will form, in the blank spaces of which gifts of his entire estate were made by decedent in his handwriting. Furthermore, on this form, which was dated July 3, 1968, Joan A. Kemp was appointed executrix.  On the line normally and ordinarily used for the signature of a testator, there appeared the signature of John B. Boyd, Justice of the Peace.  The signature of the decedent was written vertically along the left side margin of the printed form. ...


If the validity of the will is sustained, Joan A. Kemp, whose relationship to the decedent does not appear in the record, would share the estate equally with her minor son James T. Kemp, and with the decedent’s minor granddaughter Patricia L. Parkyn.  If the will is held to be invalid, the decedent died intestate and his sole heir would be his granddaughter Patricia.


Appellant contends that the will should be sustained on the grounds that (1) it is an obvious testamentary instrument, (2) the signature is (admittedly) that of the decedent, and (3) it is in fact signed ‘at the end thereof,’ since the beginning of decedent’s signature starts right after the conclusion of the dispositive provisions, even though it is in the margin and parallel with the end of all the bequests.


Although the parties stipulated that the signature appearing on the will form is in fact the signature of the decedent James W. Weiss, no testimony was offered as to why the signature was placed in the margin.  In any event, the writing must depend for its validity on its compliance with the mandatory requirements of the Wills Act, supra.


Both parties rely on Treitinger Will, 440 Pa. 616, in which this Court most recently dealt with the question of a valid execution of a will.  In that case, Joseph Treitinger, who at the time he executed his will was a nearly blind widower 86 years of age, signed his name very slantingly to the left of the line normally used for signing a will.  Although his signature trailed off slantingly into the attestation clause, this Court held that it was signed at the logical and sequential end of the language used by him in expressing his testamentary purpose and intentions.  We said in Treitinger Will:

Section 2 of the Wills Act of 1947 ... provides that every will ‘shall be signed by the testator at the end thereof.’  In Knupp Will, 428 Pa. 409, 416, the Court said: 

The law is well settled as to what is meant by the end of a will. In In re Kretz Estate, 410 Pa. 590, the Court said, ‘Since the adoption by the Legislature of the statutory requirement that a will be signed “at the end thereof,” this Court has consistently resisted attempts to weaken or modify the rule. ...’ As early as Wineland’s Appeal, 118 Pa. 37, 41 (1888), Mr. Justice Paxson rather appropriately remarked: ‘It says a will must be signed at the end thereof, and that’s the end of it.’  The end contemplated by the Act is not the point which is physically furthest from the beginning of the writing.  As we said in Kehr Will, 373 Pa. 473, 479 (1953): ‘The end contemplated by the statute is the logical end of the language used by decedent in expressing his testamentary purpose,’ or, as was said in Coyne Will, 349 Pa. 331, 333 (1944): ‘ ... there must be a sequence of pages or paragraphs which relates to its logical and internal sense, And the signature must be placed at the sequential end.’  ...


In our opinion, the facts in this case make it clearly distinguishable from Treitinger Will. Weiss certainly did not sign his name at the sequential or logical end, but only on the margin of the instrument.  However, to hold that a testamentary writing which is signed on the side or margin thereof is valid would ignore and violate the mandatory, statutory requirement that all wills be signed ‘at the end thereof.’ ...
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In re ESTATE of STASIS
452 Pa. 425,  307 A.2d 241 (1973)

JONES, Chief Justice.  This appeal presents a very narrow issue: whether the signature of Angelia Stasis found on a testamentary document purporting to be her will satisfies §2502 of the Probate Estates and Fiduciaries Code, which requires that every will admitted to probate ‘be signed by the testator at the end thereof.’


Angelia Stasis died on October 28, 1966.  On that day a search for a will was made and a sealed envelope was found in her safe deposit box which bore the words ‘Cie mano will’ (Lithuanian for ‘This is my will’) written in the decedent’s hand.  A single sheet of lined paper containing the testamentary writing in question was inside the envelope.  In due course the document, which was also written in Lithuanian in the decedent’s handwriting, was translated and offered for probate.  The Bucks County Register of Wills refused to probate the document and the proponents of the will appealed to the Orphans’ Court. The Orphans’ Court affirmed the decision of the Register and … this  appeal followed.  We reverse the decree of the Orphans’ Court.


There can be no question that the decedent intended the document which the Register of Wills refused to probate to serve as her will.  The single sheet of paper which was found in the envelope begins: ‘Angelia Stasis this is my will and to whom I leave my money to my relatives.’  The document continues with an enumeration of the decedent’s assets with instructions for their distribution to named relatives and friends upon the death of the testatrix.  These instructions for the distribution of the testatrix’ assets take up the entire front side of the document; there is writing on every line and there are no margins.  The testamentary writing continues on the reverse side of the paper where there is a charitable bequest, a provision for funeral expenses, burial instructions, the appointment of executors and the disinheritance of several named relatives.  On the last line of the reverse side of the page is the statement: ‘Be so good and fulfill my wishes.’  There is no signature at the bottom of the reverse side of the page.  However, there is a signature on the page‑‑it is upside down in the margin at the top of the page.  In addition to the signature of the decedent, her address and the statement ‘This was written 1963 October 11 day’ also appear upside down in the margin at the top of the reverse side of the sheet.  The only question presented for our consideration is whether, under the circumstances presented in this will, the signature so placed qualifies as a signature ‘at the end thereof’ as required by the Probate Estates and Fiduciaries Code.


The proponents of the will, appellants in this action, argue that while the signature on this document is admittedly not placed at the physical end of the writing, it is placed at the sequential end. The proponents contend that the sequence is both logical and obvious: after writing ‘Be so good and fulfill my wishes’ on the last line of the reverse side of the sheet, the testatrix had no room for her signature; she then rotated the sheet 180 degrees and signed the document in the only available space left on the page‑‑in the upper margin. The document was then dated and the will was complete.


The appellees do not seriously question the sequence of events advanced by the proponents of the will to explain the positioning of the decedent’s signature. Their position, which was sustained by the lower court, is that neither the manner in which the will was signed nor the intention of the decedent when she signed it is material, since the placement of the signature does not conform with the provisions of the Wills Act.  Neither the statute nor our prior decisional law requires us to take such a narrow position.


The requirement that all wills be signed ‘at the end thereof’ was first introduced into our law by the Wills Act of 1833 and has been restated in every subsequent enactment.  Prior to the Act of 1833 any testamentary document which could be shown to have been executed by the testator could be admitted to probate as a will. This practice led to certain abuses which the Act of 1833 attempted to correct by requiring the testator’s signature at the end of the document.  The evils which fostered the creation of the signature requirement were summarized by Justice Strong in Heise v. Heise, 31 Pa. 246, 248-49 (1858):

Nor should we lose sight of the mischiefs which existed at the time when (the Act of 1833) was enacted; mischiefs which it was designed to remedy. Among these, none was more serious than the facility with which unfinished papers, mere inchoate expressions of intention, were admitted to probate as valid wills of decedents. Letters, memoranda, mere notes unsigned, which were entirely consistent with a half formed purpose, and which may have been thrown aside, and never intended to be operative, were rescued from their abandonment, proven as wills, and allowed to prevail as dispositions of property which there was much reason to believe the decedent never intended. It was to remedy this mischief that the Act of 1833 provided, that every will should be signed at the ‘end thereof.’ 


Although our decisions have been adamant that nothing written after a signature ending a testamentary document may be admitted to probate,5 this Court has also recognized that in certain circumstances both reason and justice require careful scrutiny of the document in question to determine precisely where the ‘end’ of it is.  In several instances we have ruled that the end of the document does not necessarily mean the spatial end or the point which is farthest from the beginning.  The end which is contemplated by the statute is the sequential end‑‑the logical end of the language used by the decedent to express his testamentary purpose.


In Moorow’s Estate, 204 Pa. 479 (1909), a holographic will which had all its dispositive provisions on one side of a single page and the attestation and signature of the testator on the other side of the page was offered for probate.  The will was admitted to probate, even though there was room for the signature at the bottom of the front side of the sheet.  On appeal we affirmed the admission of the document to probate, adopting the opinion of the lower court which stated: 

Who that writes or reads a letter does not involuntarily turn over a leaf after leaf, seeking the continuation, until he comes to the signature?   How many are there who, from force of habit, or prudence, or economy, or necessity, have written wills on both sides of a leaf of foolscap, and how many titles have passed, without a thought of invalidity?   After all, it is the common understanding and practice which must determine questions of this kind.  There have been hundreds of wills written in circumstances of necessity beyond professional aid, and in which the application of technical rules would produce hardships not to be endured.


A testamentary document which was similar, although not identical, to the writing in the present case was presented to this Court in Swire’s Estate, 225 Pa. 188 (1909).  In Swire’s Estate, the testatrix’s will consisted of twelve numbered paragraphs arranged on one side of a single sheet of paper.  Paragraphs one through eight were written in the normal fashion across the page, while paragraphs nine through twelve were written vertically in the left hand margin.  The testatrix’s signature followed the eighth paragraph and was located in the bottom right corner of the page. Speaking through Mr. Chief Justice Mitchell, the Court stated: 

The statute requires that a will shall be in writing, and signed by the testator ‘at the end thereof.’  The end meant by this provision is the logical end of the language used, which shows that the testamentary purpose has been fully expressed.  The position of the signature with regard to the bottom or end of the page is only evidence on the question whether the testator has completed the expression of his intention.  Prima facie that is the natural place for the signature to be placed to show the full expression of the testator’s wishes and therefore is presumptively the right place for it, but it is only evidence and must give way to evidence of a different intent.

After a review of earlier cases the Court concluded: 

In the present case the connected sense of the text is entirely clear, though it does not follow the usual order of arrangement. But it does not deviate from it more than many letters written in the style of the present day where the writing jumps from the first to the third page and then back to the second.  The full substance of the testatrix’s intent and its expression are there, and the signature is at what she intended and regarded as the end of her will.  Where that is manifest the continuity of sense and not the mere position on the page must determine the statutory ‘end thereof’ as the place for the signature. 


Since 1833 our Wills Act has required every document which purports to pass property as a will to be ‘signed at the end thereof.’  However, to avoid extreme injustice, our decisional law has also recognized that in certain limited circumstances the document must be closely examined to determine exactly where the ‘end’ of the document is.  In the present case it is clear that after the testatrix wrote ‘Be so good and fulfill my wishes’ at the bottom of the second side of the sheet she intended to serve as her will, she had no room left to sign her name.  Rather than use another sheet of paper for her signature, she simply rotated the page 180 degrees and signed the document in the only remaining space available on the page‑‑in the upper margin.  Although the testatrix’s signature is not at the spatial end of the document‑‑the point farthest from the beginning‑‑there is no question that within the context of this will the signature is at the sequential end.  So placed, this signature fulfills all the functions it is required to perform: it provides authentication for the instrument setting forth the testamentary wishes of the testatrix; it identifies the testatrix; and it provides certainty as to her completed testamentary purpose.
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DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

88.  What test does Pennsylvania use to determine whether a signature is at the end of a document?  Why is the test met in Stasis and in Swire (discussed in Stasis) but not in Weiss?  Can you tell a story about what might have happened in Weiss that would make it seem more like the other two cases?
89.  Why would a state require the signature be at the end of the will? Are the results of the cases consistent with the reasons for the rule?  Would it satisfy the test if there was a gap of four or five inches between the end of the text and the signature line?
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Estate of Webb v. Oklahoma National Bank and Trust Co. 

863 P.2d 1116 (Okla. 1993) 

WATT, J.  FACTS:  The seeds of the dispute that caused these appeals were planted when Clara Webb’s brother, Earnest “Pete” Webb, died at the age of 74 on May 27, 1988. Pete Webb, had worked as an accountant for Mobil Oil. He had never married, lived frugally, and left an estate of more than $ 700,000.00, most of it in cash and securities.  Pete Webb was one of four brothers and a sister.  None of Pete Webb’s brothers were living at his death. Pete Webb’s sister, Clara Webb, who was 90 when Pete Webb died, survived him. In his will, Pete Webb left his entire estate to Miss Webb.  Miss Webb died on February 18, 1989.  Most events relevant to this appeal took place between the time of Pete Webb’s death and Miss Webb’s.

   
Miss Webb never married; consequently her heirs at law were all collateral heirs. Miss Webb’s heirs, the contestants here, were the child, grand‑children, and great‑grand‑children of Miss Webb’s brother, Wallace Webb, who died in 1939.

   
Miss Webb had taught school in Cement until her retirement in about 1964. After her retirement, Miss Webb moved back to Amber and kept house for her father and two of her brothers, all of whom predeceased Pete Webb. Miss Webb had lived alone for several years before Pete Webb’s death. Her house was on land, near Amber, Oklahoma, which her mother and father had bought in 1909. Miss Webb kept her own house, did her own banking, and shopped for her clothes. She had never owned an automobile nor had she learned to drive, so she had always relied on others to furnish transportation.  Miss Webb was hard of hearing but bought hearing aids in October 1988. … Before Pete Webb’s death, Miss Webb had no income other than her teacher’s retirement pay and the income from farm crops.

   
Donnavin Higgins, who was 51 when Pete Webb died, had known Miss Webb since about 1983. Higgins and Miss Webb shared a love of music. During gatherings at Miss Webb’s house, Miss Webb would play the piano, and Higgins the violin. Higgins had occasionally done work around Miss Webb’s house for her. Miss Webb and Higgins had always been good friends, and following Pete Webb’s death, developed an even closer relationship. Higgins ran errands, drove Miss Webb, did some work, and supervised other work, around Miss Webb’s property. Higgins had been married for over thirty years and had three children. By 1988, however, he and his wife had divorced. Higgins had been a bulldozer operator, had done odd jobs, and other construction work.  He had filed for bankruptcy in 1987.

   
After her brother Pete’s death, Miss Webb started to give Higgins some money. Higgins would accept no salary, but Miss Webb gave him cash and spent other money for his benefit.  In June 1988, Miss Webb bought a five year old Cadillac, which she put in both Higgins’s and her names. Later Miss Webb gave her one‑half interest in the car to Higgins, but continued to pay all expenses associated with the car. Higgins drove Miss Webb everywhere she needed to go. They took frequent trips together. They went to World of Animals, to Cement to visit some of Miss Webb’s former students, who were by then in their fifties, to Oklahoma City, and to other places. Miss Webb gave Higgins a camera, which he and Miss Webb used on the trips they took together.  The record shows the total purchase price and expenses of the car totaled a little over $ 12,000.00, and that Miss Webb gave to Higgins and spent for his benefit another $ 12,000.00. In late September 1988, Miss Webb conveyed 50 acres of land to Higgins.

   
Miss Webb’s niece, Nadine Raffoul, lived in Houston, Texas. Ms. Raffoul was the daughter of the Webb brother, Wallace, who had died in 1939. She stood to inherit one‑fourth of Miss Webb’s property not disposed of by will.  In mid October 1988, while she was in Oklahoma, Ms. Raffoul called on Miss Webb and asked her about the car and land Miss Webb had given Higgins. Ms. Raffoul severely criticized Higgins, and advised Miss Webb to end her relationship with him but Miss Webb refused to respond to anything Ms Raffoul said about Higgins. Ms. Raffoul soon understood that her Aunt Clara was not prepared to accept her advice about Higgins. 

   
Ms. Raffoul admitted that it had been her intention when she met with Miss Webb to ask Miss Webb to agree to a conservatorship of her property.  Ms. Raffoul also admitted that she did not like Higgins, because, she claimed, Higgins had made a statement to her, years earlier, which she had construed to be a sexual advance.  Ms. Raffoul decided not to ask Miss Webb about the conservatorship because she knew “it wasn’t going to work.” Nevertheless, Ms. Raffoul hired a lawyer and, on November 14, 1988, filed an action seeking the involuntary appointment of a conservator.  Ms. Raffoul also admitted that she knew Miss Webb was angry with her because Ms. Raffoul had tried to have a conservator appointed. Despite her anger over Ms. Raffoul’s conduct, Miss Webb left Ms. Raffoul securities valued at more that $ 10,000.00.

   
Another of Miss Webb’s relatives, her cousin Doris Early, testified that Miss Webb was bossy. Doris Early was asked about an occasion when she “and Pete jumped on to [Miss Webb] about Donnavin,” and Miss Webb “turned around and walked out of the room.” Doris Early explained that Miss Webb usually “just walked away” when “somebody tried to get her to do something she didn’t want to do.”

In November, after Ms. Raffoul filed her conservatorship action, Higgins drove Miss Webb to the Offices of George Miskovsky, Sr.’s law firm in Oklahoma City.  Miss Webb retained the Miskovsky firm to defend her in the conservatorship proceeding. Miss Webb met with Mr. Miskovsky, while Higgins waited in the reception area. Mr. Miskovsky then prepared a will for Miss Webb, which she signed.

   
Several weeks later, on December 12, 1988, Higgins again took Miss Webb to Mr. Miskovsky’s office, where she made some changes to her will.
 Again, Miss Webb met with Mr. Miskovsky out of Higgins’s presence to discuss her will. Miss Webb signed the will while she was in Mr. Miskovsky’s office.  It is the December 12 will that was submitted for probate.   This will contains detailed specific bequests.  Miss Webb made twenty‑one carefully described specific bequests of securities and devises of real property to twenty‑six different individuals and charities, including Oklahoma Memorial Hospital, and the M.D. Anderson Medical Center in Houston.
  Two of these twenty‑six gifts were to Higgins. Miss Webb left Higgins her house, forty acres of land surrounding it, and 4200 shares of Mobil Oil stock. The property left to Higgins comprised slightly over one‑third of Miss Webb’s $ 780,000.00 estate. Miss Webb named as executor Donald P. Ferguson, a Chickasha lawyer.

   
Miss Webb died of cancer. The record does not reflect that she, or anyone else, knew she was seriously ill until February 5, 1989 when she entered the hospital.    Contestants do not claim that Miss Webb was mentally incompetent. In any event, the record would not support such a claim. Contestants insist, however, that Miss Webb’s free will was overborne by Higgins’s and that the December 12 will was the result of undue influence exerted by Higgins.
  We disagree.  

… [T]he trial court heard evidence on the undue influence issues on January 8 through 11, 1991. Following that hearing the trial court entered findings of fact and conclusions of law in which it refused to admit Miss Webb’s will to probate, set aside the conveyance of the fifty acres, and the gift of the car to Higgins on the ground that Higgins had exerted undue influence over Miss Webb. ...   Higgins ... appealed the undue influence finding... .

ISSUE:  Does the record support the trial court’s findings that Miss Webb’s transfers of real and personal property to Higgins, and Miss Webb’s will were the result of Higgins’s exertion of undue influence?

DISCUSSION:  Contestants claim that Miss Webb’s decisions to give Higgins the land and the car, and to leave him property under her will were the result of Higgins’s undue influence. Thus, two sets of statutes cut across their claim. Conveyances, and gifts of personal property, obtained by undue influence may be set aside under the terms of 15 O.S. 1991 §61 and §233.
  Gifts by will obtained through undue influence may also be set  aside under the terms of 84 O.S. 1991 §43.  We see no need to distinguish between Miss Webb’s lifetime gifts to Higgins and the gifts she made to him in her will. We believe our analysis here applies equally to both categories.

    
The fact that Higgins may have had some influence on Miss Webb does not make her decision to give him property during her lifetime and to remember him in her will subject to attack. If Miss Webb decided to give her property to Higgins out of affection and gratitude, his influence was not wrongful. “Influence secured through acts of kindness is not wrongful, and therefore not undue.” Canfield v. Canfield, 167 Okla. 590 (1934).  “The word ‘undue’ when used to qualify ‘influence’ has the legal meaning of ‘wrongful’ so that ‘undue influence means a wrongful influence, but influence acquired through affection is not wrongful.” Id. To be actionable, the influence of another “must destroy the grantor’s free agency, … in effect, substitute the will of another for that of the grantor.” Watkins v. Musselman, 205 Okla. 514 (1951).

   
We cannot know what Higgins’s true motives were in befriending Miss Webb, and we are not called upon to inquire. “It is not the province of the courts to unravel all of the intricacies of human relationship.” Canfield. Instead, our focus must be upon Miss Webb: Was she weak willed and, therefore, abnormally susceptible to being influenced by others? The answer is clearly no.  Ms. Raffoul’s testimony shows that Miss Webb flatly, although courteously, refused to take Ms. Raffoul’s advice concerning Higgins. Miss Webb had been so firm in declining Ms. Raffoul’s unsolicited advice that Ms. Raffoul could not bring herself to ask Miss Webb to agree to a conservatorship of her property.  Doris Early also complained that Miss Webb would take neither her advice nor Pete Webb’s to have nothing further to do with Higgins. We note in this regard that Pete Webb left his entire estate to Miss Webb, despite his apparent dislike of Higgins. Whether Miss Webb’s refusal to take Ms. Raffoul’s and Doris Early’s advice was good judgment or bad, Miss Webb’s actions showed no tendency to allow her will to be overborne by others.

 
Contestants make much of Miss Webb’s increased expenditures in 1988 compared to her expenditures in 1985 through 1987. We find this fact irrelevant to the issues here. Her inheritance of her brother’s estate instantly changed Miss Webb’s economic status from pensioner to what most people would regard as a wealthy woman. Of $66,831 Miss Webb spent in 1988, nearly $20,000 went to pay for her brother’s funeral expenses, to buy hearing aids for herself, and to the Miskovsky firm, who were defending her in Ms. Raffoul’s conservatorship action. The $12,000 she spent on the five year old Cadillac, coupled with Higgins’s loyalty to her, gave Miss Webb the kind of independence those who have always owned and driven cars take for granted. That she would spend $12,000 to achieve such freedom for the first time in her long life is not surprising.

   
There is nothing in the record to support an inference that Miss Webb’s gifts to Higgins were unduly influenced by Higgins.  Miss Webb’s decision to give property to Higgins is not evidence that Miss Webb did not exercise her own free will in doing so.  Miss Webb was an educated woman who had been a school teacher for decades before her retirement. She had never married, and had lived alone for many years. In short, Miss Webb was a woman accustomed to living her own life and making her own decisions. By contrast, Higgins was a man of little education, who had worked in unskilled and semiskilled jobs his entire life. Miss Webb was nearly old enough to be Higgins’s grandmother. We fail to see anything Higgins did, or could have done, to convince Miss Webb to do anything that Miss Webb did not wish to do.

   
Our conclusion that Miss Webb’s decision to give some of her property to Higgins was not the result of undue influence is buttressed by another factor.  There was nothing unnatural about Miss Webb giving Higgins some of her property, although he was not a blood relative. Miss Webb had never married and, therefore, had no direct heirs.  Her nearest relative, her niece Nadine Raffoul, lives in Houston, Texas. Nor does the record show a particularly close relationship between Miss Webb and any of the other contestants. Nevertheless, Miss Webb remembered many of them in her will.

   
Contestants rely on Matter of the Estate of Beal, 769 P.2d 150 (Okla. 1989) to support their contention that the record supports the trial court’s finding of undue influence. A review of the facts in Beal convinces us that contestants’ faith in it is misplaced. In Beal the proponent of the will actively participated in its preparation.  Further, there was evidence that the testator was weak minded. Here, the record is undisputed that Higgins did not participate in the making of Miss Webb’s will.  Miss Webb was far from weak minded, as shown by her resistance to Ms. Raffoul’s aggressive campaign to deprive Miss Webb of discretion over the disposal of her property.

   
According to contestants, Higgins had a confidential relationship with Miss Webb. Assuming such a relationship existed, it avails contestants nothing because the undisputed proof shows that Miss Webb had an independent nature. In In re Estate of Newkirk, 456 P.2d 104, 108 (Okla. 1969) the decedent’s widow and daughter contested a provision in decedent’s will, in which the testator left all his property to his long time paramour, whom he had held out to be his wife.  Although the paramour had enjoyed a confidential relationship with the decedent, we held that its existence did not establish undue influence because “Uncontroverted evidence of testator’s strong will and positive character effectively negated contestants’ claim based upon such relationships.”

   
In In re Jones Estate, 190 Okla. 123 (1942)  the  testatrix left no direct heirs. We held there was nothing unnatural in the testatrix having decided to leave her estate to a non‑relative. Although the non‑relative beneficiary “had extended from time to time to the testatrix a little help and consideration under circumstances which were calculated to make the testatrix feel grateful therefor, . . .” we said, “a will made in favor of a person under such circumstances cannot be held to  have been made as a result of undue influence.”  . . .

   
Ms. Raffoul testified at trial that she “fully expected” the property to be left in the “family.” Despite the contestants’ expectations, the property at issue here was not “family” property, it was Clara Webb’s property, hers to dispose of as she saw fit.  As this is a case of equitable cognizance we are free to overrule the trial court because of our conclusion that the evidence does not support the trial court’s decision that Clara Webb was acting under undue influence.
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In re Strittmater’s Estate
140 N.J. Eq. 94,  53 A.2d 205 (1947)

Vice Ordinary Bigelow:  This is an appeal from a decree of the Essex County Orphans’ Court admitting to probate the will of Louisa F. Strittmater. Appellants challenge the decree on the ground that testatrix was insane.


The only medical witness was Dr. Sarah D. Smalley, a general practitioner who was Miss Strittmater’s physician all her adult life. In her opinion, decedent suffered from paranoia of the Bleuler type of split personality. The factual evidence justifies the conclusion. But I regret not having had the benefit of an analysis of the data by a specialist in diseases of the brain.


The deceased never married. Born in 1896, she lived with her parents until their death about 1928, and seems to have had a normal childhood. She was devoted to both her parents and they to her. Her admiration and love of her parents persisted after their death to 1934, at least. Yet four years later she wrote: ‘My father was a corrupt, vicious, and unintelligent savage, a typical specimen of the majority of his sex. Blast his wormstinking carcass and his whole damn breed.’ And in 1943, she inscribed on a photograph of her mother ‘That Moronic she‑devil that was my mother.’


Numerous memoranda and comments written by decedent on the margins of books constitute the chief evidence of her mental condition. Most of them are dated in 1935, when she was 40 years old. But there are enough in later years to indicate no change in her condition. The Master who heard the case in the court below, found that the proofs demonstrated ‘incontrovertably her morbid aversion to men’ and ‘feminism to a neurotic extreme.’ This characterization seems to me not strong enough. She regarded men as a class with an insane hatred. She looked forward to the day when women would bear children without the aid of men, and all males would be put to death at birth. Decedent’s inward life, disclosed by what she wrote, found an occasional outlet such as the incident of the smashing of the clock, the killing of the pet kitten, vile language, etc. On the other hand,‑‑and I suppose this is the split personality,‑‑Miss Strittmater, in her dealings with her lawyer, Mr. Semel, over a period of several years, and with her bank, to cite only two examples, was entirely reasonable and normal.


Decedent, in 1925, became a member of the New Jersey branch of the National Women’s Party. From 1939 to 1941, and perhaps later, she worked as a volunteer one day a week in the New York office, filing papers, etc. During this period, she spoke of leaving her estate to the Party. On October 31, 1944, she executed her last will, carrying this intention into effect. A month later, December 6, she died. Her only relatives were some cousins of whom she saw very little during the last few years of her life.


The question is whether Miss Strittmater’s will is the product of her insanity. Her disease seems to have become well developed by 1936. In August of that year she wrote, ‘It remains for feministic organizations like the National Women’s Party, to make exposure of women’s ‘protectors’ and ‘lovers’ for what their vicious and contemptible selves are.’ She had been a member of the Women’s Party for eleven years at that time, but the evidence does not show that she had taken great interest in it. I think it was her paranoic condition, especially her insane delusions about the male, that led her to leave her estate to the National Women’s Party. The result is that the probate should be set aside.


[In a Per Curiam opinion, the New Jersey Court of Errors and Appeals affirmed the decision and reasoning of Vice Ordinary Bigelow by a vote of 10-2.]
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DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

90.  Look at the Oklahoma Statute in footnote 4.  What kinds of cases does it suggest the legislature was concerned about?  Is there a sensible way to distinguish between undue influence and cases where somebody’s kindness or hard work persuades the testator to leave them money or property?

91.  If you are mentally competent and have no dependents, you can dispose of your assets in any way you see fit, even if most people would consider your choices absurd.  Assuming that they also have no dependents, why don’t we let people who are mentally incapacitated do whatever they’d like in their wills? 

92.   What evidence is there on each side regarding the claim that Ms. Strittmater was of unsound mind? Would Ms. Strittmater pass the test for capacity found on S95 (B1 in the outline)?  Can you imagine a story other than the one the court accepts that might explain her behavior?
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REVIEW PROBLEMS

(5A) Victoria Zayres was a hemophiliac who contracted AIDS through blood transfusions.  About a week before she died, the physician attending her, Dr. Killjoy, brought a lawyer to her.  With the doctor in the room, Victoria dictated her will to the lawyer.  While she was dictating, she sometimes mumbled incoherently and the doctor had to explain what she was saying.   The will, which was executed with all proper formalities, left all her property to Dr. Killjoy, except her "collection of Beatles tapes which I leave to my brother John."  Discuss how her family might challenge her will.

(5B) I.V. Yousser, noted actor and party boy, was dying of HIV-disease (acquired through sharing needles at studio parties).  Shortly before he got ill, he met Bunny Hefner, a nightclub waitress, and began an affair with her.  After I.V. got sick, Bunny was by his side at Jefferson Hospital, night and day.  I.V.’s only living relation was his son, Sid, who was working in the Peace Corps in Cameroon.

One day shortly before he died, during one of the few hours he was awake, Bunny called I.V.’s lawyer and told him to draft the following will:  

“I leave $2,000,000 to Jefferson Hospital. I leave the rest of my estate to my friend Bunny, who was with me in my time of need.”

The lawyer drafted the will, and brought it back to I.V. to sign.  Bunny left the room.  Two nurses and the Chief of Staff of the Hospital witnessed I.V. read the will over and sign it.  After he signed it, he looked at them and said, “I’m glad my creep of a son will get nothing, and it’s a good thing the toads have won.”  He then fell asleep.  The nurses and the Chief of Staff signed the will.  

I.V. died a few days later.  .  After his medical debts were paid, besides the $2,000,000 earmarked for the hospital, there was nothing left of I.V.’s property but a small piece of land, Lodgeacre, containing a furnished mountain cabin.  Discuss who is entitled to the money and to Lodgeacre.

(5C) In 1985, Sean, a wealthy elderly man, went to his lawyers to begin working on his will. He had no wife or descendants, and did not get along with his brother Mark.  He barely knew his next closest relatives, his deceased sister’s twin adult sons, Paul and Phil, and Mark’s 12-year old daughter, Debbie. He had never written a will before and was interested in leaving a great deal of money to charity.  

In the process of doing his estate planning, Sean worked very closely with Jessica, a partner at the law firm, and during the time they spent together, they fell in love.  After they had known each other for several months, Sean repeatedly stated a desire to make Jessica a beneficiary of his will.  She protested repeatedly, but he insisted.  When it became clear that he would not change his mind, she provided Brian, a junior associate at the firm, with her drafts of the will, and asked him to put it together for Sean.

At Sean’s urging, Brian redrafted the will using Jessica’s drafts as a guide, but adding a bequest to Jessica.  Under the final version of the will, the bulk of Sean’s estate still went to charity, but Jessica received Cogswell Coliseum, a large civic auditorium.  When the will was ready, Brian invited Sean into a special room that the firm used for will signings.  The room contained video equipment to record the ceremony to help demonstrate the validity of the will.  Brian started the tape running while Sean read over the will.  Sean then signed the will and Brian signed as a witness.  Brian then called to a legal assistant who was walking in the hall nearby.  When the legal assistant entered the room, Brian asked Sean to affirm that the document was his will.  After Sean did so, the legal assistant signed as a witness.   After the ceremony, Brian was uncertain that he had done things correctly, so he hid the videotape in the back of a file drawer.

Early in 1986, Sean’s brother Mark died.  Jessica, who still was involved with Sean, successfully urged him to begin to get to know his nephews and his niece as they were his only surviving family.  In April 1987, Sean died as well, and the will Brian drafted was admitted to probate. Discuss whether the grant of the coliseum is valid.

(5D) Discuss any challenges that can be made to Scott’s will in the following scenario.  Scott Samuels was in the hospital dying of a degenerative nerve disease that caused a lot of pain but left his mind clear.  He was made cranky not only by the pain, but because his only close relative, his daughter Randi, was serving in the military overseas, and could not be by his bedside.  Most of the nurses in the hospital greatly dislike dealing with Scott; one of them remarked that it made you “go bats” to have to work with him.  

One nurse, Jamie Josephson (known as “JJ”) managed to get along fine with Scott.  When he was cranky, she laughed at him and flirted with him.  When he called her names, she’d tug on his earlobe and call him “naughty.” When she was doing medically required procedures that he didn’t like, and he asked why she didn’t just leave him alone, she would smile and say, “Because I’m trying to get you to leave me all your money.”

One day, after JJ had been working with Scott for several weeks, he told her he had called his law firm and they were sending over a lawyer to redo his will so he could really leave her all his money.  She laughed and said “It’s about time.”  She was surprised at the end of her shift to see that the lawyer sent over was her high school friend Nelsy Buist.  JJ and Nelsy talked for a while, then JJ went home and Nelsy went into Scott’s room to do the will.


A few days later, Scott had a very bad day.  In great pain, with his blood pressure very low, he resisted JJ’s attempts to care for his body.  At one point he barked, “If you won’t leave me alone, I want you to call my lawyer right now so I can take you out of my will.”  She laughed and said, “Honey, you’re way too sick today to do anything like that.  Let’s see how you are tomorrow.”  The following day, she asked him if he still wanted her to call the lawyer, and he said, “Don’t bother.”  Two days later, he died.


At the time of his death, Scott owned a 10-acre rectangular lot bordered on the west by Lake McNamee.  On the lot, near the lake was a 6-bedroom “guest house.”  On the east side of the lot was the 12-bedroom “main house,” connected to the lake by a paved walkway.


In his will, which contained all the formalities necessary in the jurisdiction, Scott left Randi his vintage 280Z sports car, left to a museum “my valuable collection of Roy Lichtenstein art,” and then said,

The lakefront property should be split into two equal halves.  My daughter Randi, who never really appreciated the lake, can have the eastern half and the main house.  Nurse JJ, who put up with more than she should have, can have the western half and the guest house.

a  The prologue and epilogue are taken from J. Dukeminier & J. Krier, Property 121-23; 129-30 (4th ed. 1998).  The authors took the information from the record and briefs submitted in this case and in subsequent litigation.





b Prescription differs from adverse possession in terms of the sort of interests acquired. By adverse possession one may acquire the title or ownership, and the exclusive possession, of land formerly belonging to someone else, say X, whereas prescription gives rise to rights of use, such as rights of way and other easements, but title to the land remains in X. In some jurisdictions the elements of the two doctrines are essentially identical, in others not….  [Footnote by Dukeminier & Krier]


c At the time of the Lutz case, N.Y. Civil Practice Act §§34, 38,39, and 40 provided:





§34. An action to recover real property or the possession thereof cannot be maintained by a party other than the people, unless the plaintiff, his ancestor, predecessor or grantor, was seized or possessed of the premises in question within fifteen years before the commencement of the action. 


§38. For the purpose of constituting an adverse possession, by a person claiming a title founded upon a written instrument or a judgment or decree, land is deemed to have been possessed and occupied in either of the following cases:


1. Where it has been usually cultivated or improved.


2. Where it has been protected by a substantial inclosure.


3. Where, although not inclosed, it has been used for the supply of fuel or of fencing timber, either for the purposes of husbandry or for the ordinary use of the occupant.


Where a known farm or single lot has been partly improved , the portion of the farm or lot that has been left not cleared or not inclosed, according to the usual course and custom of the adjoining country, is deemed to have been occupied for the same length of time as the part improved and cultivated.


§39. Where there has been an actual continued occupation of premises under a claim of title, exclusive of any other right, but not founded upon a written instrument or a judgment or decree, the premises so actually occupied, and no others, are deemed to have been held adversely.


§40. For the purpose of constituting an adverse possession by a person claiming title not founded upon a written instrument or a judgment or decree, land is deemed to have been possessed and occupied in either of the following cases, and no others:


1. Where it has been protected by a substantial inclosure.


2. Where it has been usually cultivated or improved.


a  [“Fee simple” is the legal term for the most complete kind of ownership rights one can have in real property.  A person with fee simple title has the present and future right to possess, use, and dispose of the property in question.  Thus, the case concerns the market for buying and selling (as opposed to leasing) residential property.]





1 An eligible tenant is one who, among other things, owns a house on the lot, has a bona fide intent to live on the lot or be a resident of the State, shows proof of ability to pay for a fee interest in it, and does not own residential land elsewhere nearby. 





2 In either case, compensation must equal the fair market value of the owner's leased fee interest. The adequacy of compensation is not before us.





5 After the American Revolution, the colonists in several States took steps to eradicate the feudal incidents with which large proprietors had encumbered land in the Colonies. Courts have never doubted that such statutes served a public purpose. 





7 It is worth noting that the Fourteenth Amendment does not itself contain an independent “public use” requirement. Rather, that requirement is made binding on the States only by incorporation of the Fifth Amendment's Eminent Domain Clause through the Fourteenth Amendment's Due Process Clause. It would be ironic to find that state legislation is subject to greater scrutiny under the incorporated “public use” requirement than is congressional legislation under the express mandate of the Fifth Amendment.





5 See, e.g., Weiss Estate, 444 Pa. 126, 279 A.2d 189 (1971).


� The November will is not a part of the record, nor are any earlier wills that Miss Webb may have made.


� When asked at trial if she thought Higgins had exerted undue influence on Miss Webb to make the bequests to the other beneficiaries, Ms. Raffoul testified, I think somebody told Clara to think of all the people she could and write them down there and it would be that many more that we would have to contest. It makes it look better for Higgins cause he wasn't taking the whole thing. You want to know my opinion, that's it.”


� The only expert testimony on the subject of Miss Webb’s susceptibility to undue influence came from Miss Webb’s treating physician who testified that Miss Webb might have been more susceptible to being influenced by someone else because she had cancer. However the record contains a letter the doctor wrote on March 30, 1989 in which he stated that he had been asked about Miss Webb’s mental status on that date. In his letter, the doctor said that he had not known Miss Webb before February 5, 1989 but when he saw her on that date, “She was felt to be alert and oriented as to time place and person.”


�  15 O.S. 1991 §61 defines undue influence in the following language:


Undue influence consists:


   	1. In the use, by one in whom a confidence is reposed by another, or who holds a real or apparent authority over him, of such confidence or authority for the purpose of obtaining an unfair advantage over him.


   	2. In taking an unfair advantage of another's weakness of mind; or,


   	3. In taking a grossly oppressive and unfair advantage of another's necessities or distress.
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